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Article 1. General Provisions

1.1.

1.2.

1.3.

1.4.

This By-law on Information Disclosure (hereinafter the By-law) of the Open
Joint Stock Company « » (hereinafter the Com-
pany) has been developed in accordance with applicable provisions of the
laws of the Russian Federation (hereinafter the Law), the Company charter,
other internal documents, and the relevant recommendations of the Fed-
eral Commission for the Securities Market’s Code of Corporate Conduct
(hereinafter the FCSM Code).

The By-law shall regulate information disclosure by the Company about
the Company and its business activities.

For purposes of the By-law, the Company’s disclosure policy shall be un-
derstood to mean the set of principles and procedures established by the
Company for the proper information disclosure.

The General Director shall be responsible for ensuring the adherence to and
compliance with the By-law.

Article 2. Objectives and Principles of Disclosure

2.1.

248
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The goal of disclosure is to provide information for shareholders and in-
terested parties to assist such persons in making informed decisions or
taking actions.
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2.2.

2.3.

2.4.

When disclosing information, the Company shall be guided by the prin-
ciples of accuracy, accessibility, timeliness, completeness, and regularity,
and additionally, will seek to maintain a reasonable balance between the
transparency of the Company and the protection of its commercial inter-
ests while complying with relevant provisions of the Law, the charter, the
By-law, and other internal documents of the Company.

The Company shall not avoid the disclosure of negative information about
the Company if such information might be considered material or essential
for shareholders or potential investors.

The preferential treatment of any one group of recipients of such informa-
tion (selective disclosure) shall be prohibited unless otherwise provided for
by the Law.

Article 3. Persons Authorized to Make Disclosures on Behalf of the Company

3.1.

3.2.

3.3.

IFC_part_6.indd 249

The following officers of the Company (hereinafter authorized persons)
shall be authorized to disclose information to interested parties such as
investors, the public, the mass media, and/or governmental authori-
ties:

3.1.1. The General Director;

3.1.2.  The Deputy General Director [or another person, e.g. the Head of
the Investor Relations Department] responsible for information
disclosure (hereinafter the Deputy General Director);

3.1.3. The Chief Financial Officer;

3.1.4. The Operations Manager;

3.1.5. ; and

3.1.6.

To ensure a uniform and consistent disclosure policy, authorized persons
may also designate other persons to act on their behalf and respond to
any inquiries, under extraordinary circumstances. However, no person
other than the Company’s authorized persons may comment upon or
answer any questions, or respond to any inquiries regarding the Company’s
business activities, without special authorization or order of an authorized
person.

Public statements that may have a significant impact on the Company’s
business activities and/or the value of its securities shall be coordinated with
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[e.g. the Deputy General Director or other person determined
by the General Director].

3.4. If any employee of the Company participates in any public event, as part
of his official or other duties, such employee shall ensure that any informa-
tion disclosure regarding the Company is made in strict compliance with
the Company’s disclosure policy and with the prior approval of an autho-
rized person.

3.5. Authorized persons shall be fully informed regarding the Company’s busi-
ness activities that might also be of interest to the business community. The
communications of authorized persons shall be directed, coordinated, and
controlled by the General Director.

Article 4. Parties and Rules for the Disclosure of Information

4.1.  The Supervisory Board [or such other person or committee responsible for the
Company’s disclosure policy], in coordination with the General Director and
any other authorized persons, shall develop, regularly review, and improve

@ the Company’s disclosure policy.

4.2.  The General Director shall be responsible for the organization, accuracy,
and timeliness of information disclosure, and for filing reports with the
relevant governmental authorities. The General Director shall also be re-
sponsible for providing information about the Company to shareholders,
creditors, and other interested parties.

4.3.  The Corporate Secretary, in coordination with the General Director, shall
ensure the:

4.3.1. Timely disclosure of information contained in the securities pro-
spectuses and quarterly reports of the Company, and information
regarding material events affecting the Company’s business and
financial operations; and

4.3.2.  Safekeeping of the Company’s documents that are subject to man-
datory storage, control access thereto, and provide copies thereof.
The Secretary shall certify copies.

4.4. The Company’s disclosure policy shall be implemented in accordance
with the Law, and in the best interests of the Company and its share-
holders.
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4.5. The General Director and other authorized persons shall always have com-
plete information on all aspects of the Company’s business activities for
one or more of the following purposes:

4.5.1. Determining whether such information meets the disclosure
requirements, whether it is material, and whether it may be
disclosed at that particular time or should be treated as confi-
dential;

4.5.2.  Ensuring the proper understanding of the current operations of the
Company that may be of interest to investors; and

4.5.3. Preventing situations where the Company might inadvertently
deny the occurrence of any significant events, despite the fact that
they actually occurred.

4.6. In addition to mandatory disclosure requirements, the Company shall pre-
pare and disclose information regarding:

4.6.1. The Company’s corporate governance policy;

4.6.2. The Company’s social and environmental policy;

4.6.3. The activities of the Company’s various governing bodies, and the
corporate documents;

4.6.4.  Those shareholders who own 5% or more of the Company’s shares,
including information on indirect (beneficial) ownership;'”

4.6.5. The following persons:'”*

4.6.5.1. Those persons specified in Clause 3.1 hereof;
4.6.5.2. The Chief Accountant;

4.6.5.3. Supervisory Board members;

4.6.5.4. The Corporate Secretary;

4.6.5.5. ; and
4.6.5.6. ;

4.6.6. ; and
4.6.7.

173 The Federal Commission for the Securities Market’s Code of Corporate Conduct (FCSM
Code), Chapter 7, Section 2.1.4.

174 FCSM Code, Chapter 7, Section 2.1.2.
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4.7. Those persons and channels responsible for information dissemination shall
ensure unrestricted access thereto by interested parties. In addition to the
means of disclosure required by the Law, the Company shall:

4.7.1.  Publish information about the Company, on planned presentations by
the Company’s officers and interviews with them in the mass media;

4.7.2.  Conduct regular meetings (information briefings'”> and/or press
conferences) with shareholders, potential investors, and other mar-
ket participants;

4.7.3.  In addition to the disclosures required by the Law, disclose addi-
tional information on the Company’s website;

4.7.4.  Issue press-releases; and

4.7.5. Conduct any other means of disclosure as established by the Gen-
eral Director and the Supervisory Board.

4.8. The Company shall publish on its website all significant announcements
and materials, and may also publish brochures and booklets. The Compa-
ny’s website shall, at a minimum, include the following information:'”®

4.8.1. The charter and all amendments thereto;

4.8.2.  Annual reports, annual and quarterly financial statements (Russian
Accounting Standards (RAS) and International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) when available);

4.8.3.  Securities prospectuses;

4.8.4.  Audit reports or opinions;

4.8.5. Information on material facts; and

4.8.6. Information on the General Meetings of Shareholders (hereinafter
the GMS), material decisions of the Supervisory Board, and the de-
velopment strategy of the Company.

Article 5. Public Information

5.1. Public information in the securities market shall mean information, access
to which is not restricted in any way, and the disclosure of which is required
by the Law on the Securities Market.

17> FCSM Code, Chapter 7, Sections 1.1.1 and 1.1.2.
176 Companies with 10,000 or more shareholders shall publish their financial statements in at

least two printed media (with a circulation of not less than 50,000 copies) to which most
shareholders have unrestricted access. FCSM Code, Charter 7, Section 1.1.2.
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5.2.  Public information shall include:

5.2.1. The charter, as amended;

5.2.2.  By-laws of the Company including, but not limited to, the by-laws
for the governing bodies, audit and control bodies, disclosure
policy, Supervisory Board’s committees, etc.;

5.2.3.  The External Auditor’s reports and opinions;

5.2.4.  Annual financial statements prepared in accordance with RAS;

5.2.5. Annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS;'”’

5.2.6. The annual report of the Companys;

5.2.7.  An approved development strategy of the Company;'”®

5.2.8. Information about the securities, and the financial and business
operations of the Company;

5.2.9. ; and

5.2.10.

5.3.  The Company shall disclose information about its securities, and its finan-
cial and business operations in the form of:

5.3.1.  Quarterly reports;

5.3.2.  Reports on material events affecting the financial and business
operations of the Company;

5.3.3.  Decisions regarding the issuance of the Company’s securities;

5.3.4.  Securities prospectuses; and

5.3.5. Reports on results of securities issue.

5.4. The Company shall disclose information regarding material facts affecting its
financial and business operations in accordance with the requirements of law.

5.5.  The Company shall also disclose information on the following events and
activities:'”

5.5.1.  Changes in the name of the Company;
5.5.2. Decisions regarding the increase or decrease of the charter capital;

77 1f the Company files accounting statements in accordance with international standards, e.g.
US GAAP, IFRS.

178 FCSM Code, Chapter 7, Section 3.3.1. recommends disclosure of the development strategy in
the annual report to shareholders including the company’s prospects regarding sales, efficiency,
market share, income growth, profitability, and debt-equity ratio.

17 If the company discloses information regarding said events and activities consistent with the
recommendations of the FCSM Code in addition to that list required by statutory provisions.
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5.5.3. A buyback by the Company of its own shares provided that such
buyback is not related to a decrease in the charter capital, and a
statement disclosing the source of funding for the acquisition, the
purchase price, as well as the goals and reasons for such purchase;

5.5.4.  Price fluctuations of 5% or more of the Company’s shares over a
relatively short period of time;

5.5.5. Transactions that may affect shareholder interests or the use of the
Company’s assets, including information regarding the use of shares
and the other parties involved in such deals;

5.5.6.  Cessation of the production of goods or the provision of services,
the sales of which accounted for at least 10% of the Company’s
total output based on the results of the previous fiscal year;

5.5.7. Changes in the business priorities of the Companys;

5.5.8.  Amendments to the charter relating to the issuance of preferred
shares of classes other than those previously issued; and

5.5.9. Changes of the External Auditor, Extarnal Registrar, or Depository
of the Company;

5.5.10. ; and

5.5.11.

5.6. The Company shall disclose all material events affecting the financial and
business operations of the Company even if not listed herein, but are nev-
ertheless deemed material, and may affect the price of the Company’s
shares.

5.7.  If securities are issued which require the registration of the securities pro-
spectus, the Company shall provide access to information contained in the
prospectus and shall publish a notice of the procedure of disclosure in __

180

5.8. The prospectus shall disclose all material information about:'®!

5.8.1. The motives for the issuance of such shares;

5.8.2.  The Company’s dividend policy;

5.8.3.  The intention of any Supervisory Board member, the General Di-
rector, any Executive Board member, the General Director’s depu-

1% Name of the print media with a circulation of not less than 50,000 copies.
181 FCSM Code, Chapter 7, Section 2.1.
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5.9.

5.10.

5.11.

5.12.

5.13.

5.14.

ties, the Chief Accountant, and/or the Corporate Secretary to
purchase and/or sell shares; and

5.8.4.  Supervisory Board members, the General Director, Executive Board
members, the General Director’s deputies, the Corporate Secretary,
and the Chief Accountant of the Company.

The Supervisory Board shall prepare the annual report of the Company for
presentation at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders (hereinafter
AGM).

In addition to statutory information, the annual report of the Company
shall contain the following:

5.10.1. An analysis of the competitive position of the Company;

5.10.2. An analysis of the Company’s profitability;

5.10.3. A comparison of the planned and actual results of the Company
for the year;

5.10.4. Net profit information, including total net profit, net profit from
the Company’s principal activities, and net earnings per share;

5.10.5. An assessment of changes in the asset structure over the past three
years;

5.10.6. The percentage of export revenue over the year;

5.10.7. The Company’s human resourses and training policy;

5.10.8. The Company’s corporate governance system and main corporate
governance event during the reporting period;

5.10.9. ; and

5.10.10.

The annual report shall be signed by the General Director and the Chief
Accountant, and be subject to prior approval by the Supervisory Board based
on a review by the Revision Commission and External Auditor. The an-
nual report shall be approved at least 30 days before the date of the AGM.

The Company shall publish its annual financial statements in
182

The Company shall publish annual financial statements not later than June
1 of the year following the reporting year.

The Company shall keep a record of its affiliated persons, and file reports
on affiliated persons as required under law.

182 Name of the print media in which the annual accounting statements are published.

IFC_part_6.indd 255
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5.15. The Company shall hold quarterly informational briefings.'®

5.16. Notice of informational briefings shall be published in 184
at least 10 days before the date of the briefing.

5.17. At the informational briefings, the shareholders and any other interested
parties may receive information on the Company’s business activities, and
pose questions to representatives of the executive bodies and the Supervi-
sory Board of the Company.

5.18. The Company shall disclose public information on its internet website lo-
cated under: www. ru.

Article 6. Information Provided to Shareholders

6.1. The Company shall ensure that shareholders have access to the documents
and information as set forth in the Law.

6.2.  All shareholders shall have the right to review the documents listed in
Clause 5.2 hereof, at the address of the executive body of the Company
which is located at: .18 The Company shall provide
copies of any such documents upon request of any shareholder.

6.3.  Requests to review or receive copies of documents shall be made in writing
to the attention of ;1% and be sent to the following ad-
dress: 87 The request shall state the full name of the
shareholder (for legal entities, their names and location), the number and
type (class) of shares owned by the shareholder and the title of the docu-
ment requested. The request is to be accompanied by an extract from the
shareholder register.

185 FCSM Code, Chapter 7, Section 3.1.1.

184 Provide the name of the print media accessible to the majority of shareholders of the company.

In accordance with the recommendations of the FCSM Code, Chapter 7, Section 1.1.2, it is
possible to name an alternative print media.

185 Name the location (physical address) of the executive body of the company. Name the contact

telephone number of the Corporate Secretary, the Shareholder Relations Department, or others
as applicable. It is also advisable to provide an alternative location, if available, where the
shareholders may review the company’s documents.

1% Name the position of the relevant person: General Director, Corporate Secretary, or other

person performing the functions of the Corporate Secretary.

187 Name the location of the executive body.
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6.4.

6.5.

6.6.

6.7.

6.8.

The Corporate Secretary shall be required to verify the share ownership of
the person requesting information.

The documents shall be made available for inspection free of charge within
seven'® calendar days after the date of the request.

Copies of the documents shall be made available within five business days
after the relevant request and after receipt of payment from the share-
holder for the copy and postage costs incurred by the Company. If copies
of the documents are sent to the requesting party by mail, the date of dis-
patch shall be considered the date of providing the documents.

Payment for providing copies shall be made in the following manner:
189

At the request of any shareholder, the Company or the External Registrar
shall, within days' after the receipt of such request, make available
to the shareholder an extract from the list of persons entitled to participate
in the GMS containing information about such persons, or a certificate that
the person is not included in the list of persons entitled to participate in the
GMS.

Article 7. Confidential Information

7.1.

7.2.

7.3.

IFC_part_6.indd 257

188

189

190

191

Trade secrets or confidential information shall mean any non-public infor-
mation about the Company having actual or potential commercial value
because of the fact that it is unknown to third parties. There is no legal
right to free access to such information, and the possessor of such informa-
tion shall be responsible for taking steps to protect its confidentiality.

The Company shall take all necessary steps and actions to protect its trade
secrets and confidential information.

The following persons shall have access to confidential information:'*!

7.3.1.  Supervisory Board members;
7.3.2. The General Director;

FCSM Code, Chapter 7, Section 1.1.1. recommends a period of five business days.
Specify how the payment for copies shall be made.
Best practice suggests a period of 3-5 days.

List any other officers and employees of the company that shall have access to proprietary
information, or make reference to any other company by-laws containing a list of employees
having access to such information.
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7.3.3. Executive Board members;
7.3.4. Deputy General Directors;
7.3.5.  The Chief Accountant;

7.3.6. The Corporate Secretary; and
7.3.7.

7.4.  These persons shall sign confidentiality agreements with the Company.

7.5.  The General Director shall have the right to make changes and amendments
to the list of persons having access to confidential information.

7.6.  Any person having access to confidential information shall not use such
information for entering into any business transactions, nor shall they dis-
close such information to third parties for commercial use.

7.7.  Persons who have illegally acquired the Company’s trade secrets or confi-
dential information shall reimburse the Company for any losses incurred.
The same shall apply to the employees of the Company who have disclosed
confidential information in violation of their employment contracts, and
to any other contracting parties disclosing such information in violation of
their contractual agreement.

7.8.  Confidential information shall include, but not be exclusively limited to,
the following information:'*

7.8.1. 5
7.8.2. ; and
7.8.3.

7.9. The following documents shall not constitute confidential information of
the Company:

7.9.1. The Company’s founding documents;

7.9.2. Documents providing evidence of certain legal rights, such as
patents, or documents evincing the Company’s legal right to
engage in business operations, e.g. registration certificates, li-
censes, etc.;

7.9.3. Mandatory reports on financial and business operations;

7.9.4. Documents confirming the solvency of the Company;

192 FCSM Code, Chapter 7, Section 4.1.1. recommends including any information that shall be
deemed confidential.
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7.10.

7.9.5.  Documents containing information on the number and composition
of the Company’s employees, their salaries and labor conditions, as
well as available vacancies;

7.9.6. Documents regarding the payment of taxes and other mandatory
payments;

7.9.7.  Documents containing information on environmental pollution;

7.9.8.  Documents concerning compliance with antitrust laws;

7.9.9. Documents with information on noncompliance with labor safety
regulations, the sale of products that may have a harmful effect on
people’s health, as well as any other violations of the Law, and the
amount of damages caused by such noncompliance;

7.9.10. Documents containing information about the participation in
other organizations of any of the members of the Supervisory Board
or Executive Board, the General Director or the General Director’s
deputies, or the Chief Accountant of the Company;

7.9.11. Any documents containing confidential information which have been
released by the Company and have become public information;

7.9.12. ; and

7.9.13.

The Company shall provide access to the documents and information listed
in Clause 7.8 hereof when requested by those governmental and law enforce-
ment authorities entitled to have access to such information pursuant to
law, as well as when requested by employees of the Company.

Article 8. Insider Information

8.1.

IFC_part_6.indd 259

193

Insider information shall include any material non-public information about the
business activities of the Company, its shares and any other securities, as well as
any transactions with these securities, which, if disclosed, might materially affect
the market value of these shares or other securities of the Company.'**

It should be noted that the only document currently containing a definition of “insider
information” is the FCSM Code, Chapter 7, Section 4.2. Russian legislation does not define
those persons considered “insiders,” nor does it establish liability for the improper or
unauthorized use of insider information, nor does it regulate other issues related to control
over the use of insider information. At present, a new law “On Insider Information” is under
consideration by the State Duma, and it is advisable to incorporate appropriate changes and
amendments to the by-law subsequent to the promulgation of such law.
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8.2. Information that meets the following criteria shall be considered insider
information:

8.2.1. Information that directly relates to the Company, its subsidiaries
and their securities, as well as the business prospects of the Com-
pany and its subsidiaries;

8.2.2. Information of a specific nature;

8.2.3.  Any non-public information; and

8.2.4. Information that, if published, might significantly affect the price
of any of the Company’s securities.

8.3.  Any individual or legal entity that has access to insider information pursu-
ant to the Law, job description, or other internal regulation of the Com-
pany, shall be deemed an insider.

8.4. The following persons shall be considered insiders:

8.4.1.  Supervisory Board members, any corporate executive and members
of control bodies of the Company, as well as its subsidiaries and
affiliated companies;

8.4.2.  Persons employed by the Company or its subsidiaries and affili-
ated companies in any official or professional capacity pursuant to
an employment contract, and having access to insider information
pursuant to the terms of such contract; and

8.4.3. The spouses and close relatives of the persons listed herein;

8.4.4. Persons that own a % of voting shares or a % of
votes of the issuer, its subsidiaries, or related companies;

8.4.5.  Officials of governmental authorities and agencies, or local authori-
ties;

8.4.6. Legal entities affiliated with any of the aforementioned persons or
legal entities;

8.4.7. ; and

8.4.8.

8.5. Insiders shall be prohibited from disclosing insider information or from
engaging in any transactions using insider information.

8.6. The procedures for the appropriate handling and use of insider information
shall be established by the Supervisory Board.

8.7.  The General Director shall be responsible for ensuring compliance with the
Law and any special requirements provided for in the Company’s charter,
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by-laws, and other internal documents to prevent conflicts of interest and
to prevent the improper use of insider information by the employees and
business units of the Company.

Article 9. Information Provided to the Company

9.1. If the Company is required to disclose information that is provided to it
by other persons or legal entities, the Company shall use its best efforts
to ensure the timely receipt and continuous update of such informa-
tion.

9.2.  The Company shall be entitled to receive information that is material to the
business activities of the Company in accordance with the Law.

9.3.  The Company’s internal regulations shall set forth the appropriate procedure
and deadlines for filing, and define the personal information required to
be filed by candidates for the Company’s elective bodies.

9.4.  Supervisory Board members, the General Director, Executive Board mem-
bers, and shareholders owning more than 20% of voting shares of the
Company who have been deemed interested parties in any transaction shall
provide the Supervisory Board, the Revision Commission, and the External
Auditor with information regarding:

9.4.1.  Legal entities in which such person owns 20% or more of the vot-
ing shares (interest), regardless of whether individually or jointly
owned with affiliated persons;

9.4.2.  Legal entities in which they hold positions in the governing bodies;
and

9.4.3.  All executed, negotiated, or proposed deals known to them in which
they might be considered an interested party.

9.5.  When requested by the General Director or other persons duly authorized
by the General Director, the External Registrar shall make available that
information included in the shareholder register in accordance with the
procedures set forth by the Law.

9.6. The Company shall keep a record of its affiliates and file reports on such
affiliates in accordance with the Law.

9.7. Affiliates of the Company shall notify the Company in writing within ten
days of the purchase by such affiliate of any of the Company’s shares, and
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such notification shall state the number and type (class) of the shares so
purchased.

9.8. If any damage is caused to the Company because of the failure by any af-
filiate to disclose such information, or by the untimely disclosure of such
information by the affiliate, then that affiliate shall be held liable for any
damages caused thereby to the Company.

9.9. The External Auditor shall provide the Company with the results of any
audit of the Company’s financial and business operations in accordance
with the Law and the contract with the External Auditor.
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Article 1. General Provisions

1.1.

1.2.

1.3.

1.4.

1.5.

This By-law for the Revision Commission (hereinafter the By-law) of the
Open Joint Stock Company « » (hereinafter the
Company) has been developed in accordance with relevant provisions of
laws of the Russian Federation (hereinafter the Law), the Company char-
ter, other internal corporate documents, and the recommendations of the
Federal Commission for the Securities Market’s Code of Corporate Con-
duct (hereinafter the FCSM Code).

The By-law determines the authority, composition, rights and duties,
nomination and working procedures, and remuneration of the Revision
Commission.

The Revision Commission shall act in accordance with the law, the charter,
and other internal documents of the Company.

The Revision Commission shall report to the General Meeting of Sharehold-
ers (hereinafter the GMS).

The relations of the Revision Commission’s members with the Company
shall be regulated by contracts signed on behalf of the Company by the
person duly authorized by the GMS.
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Article 2. Authority

2.1.

2.2.

IFC_part_6.indd 265

The Revision Commission shall be responsible for the control of the finan-
cial and business activities of the Company and its bodies. The Revision
Commission shall further be responsible for compliance by the executive
bodies and the Supervisory Board, as well as Company’s officers, business

units, branches, and representative offices with provisions of the Law, the
Charter and by-laws of the Company regarding the Company’s business
activities.

The Revision Commission shall:

2.2.1.

2.2.2.

2.2.3.

2.2.4.

2.2.5.

2.2.6.

2.2.7.

2.2.8.

2.2.9.

2.2.10.

2.2.11.
2.2.12.

Perform regular and extraordinary inspections of the financial and
business operations of the Company, and present its findings to
the GMS;

Perform inspections of specific aspects of the financial and busi-
ness operations of the Company at the request of a shareholder
(or a group of shareholders) owning not less than 10% of voting
shares, or at the request of the Supervisory Board;

Ensure that the Supervisory Board and the executive bodies of the
Company act in compliance with the Law, the charter, by-laws, and
relevant internal documents of the Companys;

Investigate cases of the use of insider information;

Check the timeliness of payments to contractors, mandatory budget
payments, accrual and payment of dividends, as well as the meeting
of other financial obligations of the Company;

Check the appropriateness of the use of reserve and other funds of
the Company;

Check the timeliness of payment for the issued shares of the Com-
pany;

Review the financial condition of the Company, its solvency, liquid-
ity of its assets, and creditworthiness;

Confirm the accuracy of information contained in the annual report
and financial documents of the Companys;

Oversee the timeliness of valuation of the Company’s net assets;

; and
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Article 3. Rights and Duties of the Revision Commission

3.1.  The Revision Commission shall have the right to:

3.1.1.  Perform checks and inspections of the financial and business op-
erations of the Company at any time and at its own initiative;

3.1.2.  Request from the Company’s officers and governing bodies the
necessary documents on the financial and business operations of the
Company;

3.1.3.  Request from the Company’s officers and employees written and oral
explanations on any issues that may arise in the course of inspections;

3.1.4.  Issue instructions to remedy the identified violations;

3.1.5.  Request the calling of an Extraordinary General Meeting of Share-
holders (hereinafter EGM), as well as a Supervisory Board meeting;

3.1.6. Familiarize itself with the External Auditor’s opinion;

3.1.7.  Use the services of outside experts, specialists, and/or auditors who
are not the Company’s employees as required;

3.1.8. ; and

@ 3.1.9.

3.2.  Revision Commission members shall have the right to attend meetings of
the Executive Board and Supervisory Board as observers.
3.3.  The Revision Commission shall:

3.3.1. Make reports based on the results of inspections and submit them
to the GMS and the initiator of the inspection within days
of the completion of the inspection;'*

3.3.2.  Register all instances of noncompliance with the Law, the charter,
by-laws, and rules and instructions by the officers and employees
of the Company during business operations of the Company;

3.3.3. Inform the shareholders of the violations identified;

3.3.4.  Monitor compliance with its instructions by the Company’s officers;

3.3.5.  Not later than 40 days prior to the date of the Annual General Meeteng
of Sharefolders (hereinafter AGM), submit to the Supervisory Board
its opinion on the accuracy of data contained in the annual report and
annual financial statements of the Company;

194 Best practice suggests two weeks.
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3.4.

3.3.6. Maintain records of violations it identifies and furnish information
on such violations to the Supervisory Board and its Audit Commit-
tee;!%?

3.3.7. ; and

3.3.8.

Revision Commission members must participate in the Revision Commis-
sion meetings and its inspections, as well as attend the GMS and answer
questions of the attendees.

Article 4. Composition, Status, and Term of Office of the Revision Commission

4.1.

4.2.
4.3.

4.4.

4.5.

4.6.

4.7.

4.8.

IFC_part_6.indd 267
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The Charter determines the number of Revision Commission members.
Members shall be elected to serve until the next AGM.

Only individuals may be Revision Commission members.

Revision Commission members may not at the same time be members of
the Supervisory Board, the Executive Board, the Counting Commission, or
the General Director of the Company, or of a legal entity competing with
the Company.'?

The same person may be re-elected as a Revision Commission member an
unlimited number of times.

The Revision Commission members must have the necessary business, fi-
nancial, and accounting experience, as well as knowledge of accounting and
financial reporting.

The GMS may at any time terminate the powers of any Revision Commis-
sion member before expiration of his term.

Revision Commission members shall elect from among themselves the
Chairman at their first meeting.

The Chairman of the Revision Commission shall:

4.8.1.  Organize the work of the Revision Commission;
4.8.2. Call Revision Commission meetings;

As recommended by the FCSM Code in Chapter 8, Section 2.1.2. The internal regulations
of the company should provide for the establishment of the Audit Committee.

It is recommended that the Revision Commission does not include family members of directors
or managers. The GMS may establish additional categories of persons who may not be
Revision Commission members.
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4.8.3.  Preside over Revision Commission meetings;
4.8.4. ; and
4.8.5.

4.9. The Deputy Chairman of the Revision Commission shall perform the func-
tions of the Chairman during the absence of the latter.

Article 5. Procedure for Nominating Candidates to the Revision Commission

5.1. Candidates to the Revision Commission may be nominated by a share-
holder (or a group of shareholders) owning at least 2% of voting shares of
the Company as of the date of such nomination.

5.2.  Shareholder proposals must be received by the Company within
calendar days of the end of the financial year."”

5.3.  The Supervisory Board may nominate candidates to the Revision Commis-
sion if shareholders have nominated an insufficient number of candidates.

5.4. The number of candidates nominated to the Revision Commission by each
proposing shareholder or shareholder group may not exceed the number of
the members to be elected to the Revision Commission pursuant to the
Company’s charter.

5.5.  Proposals on the nomination of candidates may be made by:

5.5.1. Registered mail to the following address:
, to the attention of [specify title and
name of the person responsible for receipt of proposals]; or
5.5.2.  Personal delivery against confirmation of receipt to
[the Secretary of the Supervisory Board or the Corporate
Secretary, if such position has been established, or another person
authorized to receive written correspondence addressed to the Com-

pany].
5.6. The deadline for proposing candidates shall be established in accordance

with the requirements for preparing, calling, and conducting the GMS es-
tablished by the Law.'®

197 LJSC, Article 53, Clause 1. The company must receive such proposals within 30 days from
the end of the financial year, unless the company’s charter provides for a longer period.

1% See FCSM Regulation No. 17/ps on the Approval of the Regulation on Additional Requirements
to the Procedure for Preparing, Calling, and Conducting the General Meeting of Shareholders.

268

‘ IFC part 6.indd 268 @ 17.09.2004 11:24:35



®

Annex 26. A Model By-Law for the Revision Commission

5.7.

5.8.

5.9.

5.10.

Proposals on the nomination of candidates shall be made in writing and
shall state:

5.7.1.  The name of the shareholder(s) submitting the proposal; and
5.7.2.  The number and category (class) of shares owned by them.

The proposal on the nomination of a candidate shall contain the following
information:

5.8.1. The first name, patronymic, and surname of each of the nomi-
nated candidates, and date of birth;

5.8.2.  Educational background, including continuous professional educa-
tion (name of educational institution, date of graduation, degree
or diploma, honorary mention, etc.);

5.8.3.  Place of work and positions held over the past ___ years, and posi-
tions held by the candidate in the governing bodies of other legal
entities over the past years;'”

5.8.4.  List of legal entities of which the candidate is a shareholder, stating the
number of shares (interest) in the charter capital of such legal entities;

5.8.5. List of persons with which the candidate is affiliated, stating the
nature of the affiliation;

5.8.6. Relations of the candidate with affiliated persons and major partners
of the Company, as well as candidate’s affiliation with the Com-
pany;

5.8.7.  Outstanding criminal convictions and administrative disqualifica-
tions, if any;

5.8.8.  Name of the body to which the candidate is nominated (the Revi-
sion Commission in this case);

5.8.9. ;

5.8.10. ; and

5.8.11. Other information material to the election of the candidate as a
Revision Commission member.

Such proposals may also contain the candidate’s consent to stand for elec-
tion.

The proposal shall be signed by the shareholders or their representatives. If
a representative signs the proposal, a power of attorney shall be attached.

19 FCSM Code, Chapter 3, Section 2.3.1 recommends five years.
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5.11. The Supervisory Board shall review the proposals and make a decision on
accepting or rejecting the candidates to be included into the list of candidates
for the position of the Revision Commission within five days after the end
of the period set forth in Clause 5.2 hereof.

5.12. A motivated decision of the Supervisory Board to reject the inclusion of a
candidate into the list of candidates shall be sent to the proposing
shareholder(s) within three days of when the decision was made.

5.13. The nominated candidates shall be included into the list of candidates, un-
less:

5.13.1. The shareholder(s) failed to submit the proposal within the time-
frame set by Clause 5.2 hereof;

5.13.2. The shareholder(s) do not own a sufficient number of voting shares
of the Company as set forth in Clause 5.1 hereof; and

5.13.3. The proposal does not meet the requirements set forth in Clauses
5.7 and 5.8 hereof.

5.14. Candidates nominated to the Revision Commission may stand down until
the moment the Supervisory Board includes the candidate into the list of

@ candidates.

Article 6. Organizing the Work

6.1. The Revision Commission shall organize its work in the form of regular
and extraordinary inspections, as well as meetings to discuss issues related
to conducting inspections and organizing its work.

6.2.  Scheduled inspections shall be conducted based on a fixed schedule that is
based on target dates for approving the results of the financial and business
operations for the year.

6.3. Extraordinary inspections shall be conducted:

6.3.1. On the basis of a decision of the GMS;

6.3.2.  On the basis of a decision of the Supervisory Board;

6.3.3.  Upon the request of shareholders owning not less than 10% of
voting shares of the Company; or

6.3.4. At the initiative of the Revision Commission.

6.4. Extraordinary inspections of financial and business operations of the Com-
pany shall start not later than ___ days after the shareholder’s request to
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6.5.

6.6.

6.7.

6.8.

6.9.

6.10.

6.11.

6.12.

IFC_part_6.indd 271
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perform such an inspection is received by the Company, or after the date
of the relevant minutes of the GMS, or the Supervisory Board meeting. The
inspection must be completed within ____ days.*

Upon the results of scheduled and extraordinary inspections, the Revision
Commission shall prepare a report. All Revision Commission members who
participated in the inspection shall sign the report. Any Revision Commis-
sion member who disagrees with the Revision Commission’s report may
prepare a dissenting opinion that shall be appended to and shall be deemed
an integral part of the Revision Commission’s report. If a Revision Com-
mission member does not sign the report and does not provide a dissenting
opinion, the report must contain an explanation.*

In accordance with its report, the Revision Commission may issue instruc-
tions to the officers of the Company requiring them to remedy the identi-
fied violations. The instructions shall be approved by the Revision Com-
mission and signed by the Chairman of the Revision Commission.

The Revision Commission shall meet as required but at least once a quarter,
as well as before and after the completion of each inspection.

Revision Commission meetings may be called by the Chairman of the Re-
vision Commission or by written request of any of its members. The request
must contain the list of issues to be discussed at the meeting. The meeting
must be called within ____ days after the date of the request.

The Revision Commission meetings shall be held in the form of joint at-
tendance. Meetings on organizational issues may be held in the form of
video- or teleconferences.

Revision Commission members shall receive advance written notice of ____
days before the date of the meeting. The notice shall contain information
about the date, time, and location of the meeting, as well as the agenda of
the meeting.

Any Revision Commission member may make proposals and amendments to
the meeting agenda subject to the terms of notification of the meeting.

The Revision Commission meeting shall be valid if at least half of its mem-
bers participate in the meeting.

The FCSM Code recommends that the inspection of financial and business activities start
within 30 days. The inspection must be completed within 90 days.

FCSM Code, Chapter 8, Section 3.1.4.
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6.13. Decisions on all issues shall be made by a majority vote of Revision Com-
mission members attending the meeting.

6.14. In case a member withdraws from the Revision Commission and if the
number of Revision Commission members becomes less than the quorum
as set forth in Clause 6.12 hereof, the Revision Commission shall request
the Supervisory Board to call an EGM.

6.15. Revision Commission members may not delegate their powers to other
persons, including by power of attorney.**

6.16. Minutes of Revision Commission meetings shall be signed by its Chairman
and filed in the book of minutes kept by the Chairman of the Revision
Commission or in the Company’s files.

Article 7. Remuneration and Compensation of Revision Commission Members

7.1.  Subject to the decision of the GMS, Revision Commission members shall
receive compensation (receipts) of expenses incurred by them in connection
with the performance of their duties and receive remuneration for their

work.

7.2.  Revision Commission members shall receive remuneration in the amount
of Rubles.

7.3.  Remuneration shall be payable once every months.

22 FCSM Code, Chapter 8, Section 3.1.2.
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APPROVED
by decision of the Supervisory Board
of the Open Joint Stock Company « »

Supervisory Board Minutes
No.

of 200_

Signature of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board

dated this __ day of , 200_
[The Company’s Seal]

BY-LAW ON RISK MANAGEMENT

of the Open Joint Stock Company

« »

The city of
, 200_
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Article 1. General Provisions

1.1.  This By-law on Risk Management (hereinafter the By-law) of the Open Joint
Stock Company « » (hereinafter the Company) has
been developed and drafted in accordance with the laws of the Russian Fed-
eration (hereinafter the Law), the charter of the Company, by-laws, and
other internal corporate documents, and recommendations of the Federal
Commission for the Securities Market’s Code of Corporate Conduct (here-
inafter the FCSM Code).2

1.2.  The By-law defines the principles and elements of the risk management
system, risk management methods, monitoring and control over the effi-
ciency of the risk management system, the bodies responsible for the risk
management system, and information disclosure.

203 This By-law has been developed to help companies implement the requirements of the FCSM Code
and is consistent with recommendations of specialized institutions. For more information see:

 Internal Control, Guidance for Directors on the Combined Code, The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England & Wales, 1999.

+ Implementing Turnbull — A Boardroom Briefing, The Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England & Wales, 1999.

+ A Risk Management Standard, The Institute of Risk Management (IRM), The Association
of Insurance and Risk Managers (AIRMIC), The National Forum for Risk Management in
the Public Sector, 2002.

* Internal Control — Integrated Framework, Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO), U.K.

* Act on Corporate Control and Transparency (KonTraG), Germany.
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Article 2. Definitions, Principles, and Objectives of Risk Management

2.1.

2.2

2.3.

2.4.

2.5.

2.6.

IFC_part_6.indd 275

For the purposes of the By-law, risk shall be defined as the probability of
an event occurring, and its expected effect upon the Company’s activities.
The Company’s approach to risk management takes into account the po-
tential of unfavorable events or threats, and the potential of favorable events
or opportunities.

The Company views risk management as one of the most important elements
of strategic management and internal control. Risk management is a process
utilized by the Company which regularly identifies, evaluates, and controls
threats and opportunities; modifies its operations for the purpose of decreas-
ing the level of threats and in order to take advantage of any opportunities;
and informs shareholders and other stakeholders thereof.

The Company’s system of risk management is not designed to eliminate
risks, but to increase the probability that the Company’s strategic goals will
be attained and in addition, take appropriate actions to decrease the prob-
ability and amount of potential losses. To this end, the Company clearly
defines the levels of risk acceptable for each category of corporate activity.
An integrated risk management system takes into account the interrelation
of various risks for the purpose of evaluating their aggregate effect on the
Company’s operations, and uniformly evaluating the potential of financial,
operational, and other risks.

The By-law is not limited to the protection of shareholder interests; it also
takes into account the potential consequences of the Company’s operations
for other stakeholders.

Implementing and maintaining the risk management system has the follow-
ing objectives:

2.6.1. Compliance with corporate governance standards which focus on
identifying, monitoring, and managing the risks, and properly dis-
closing information regarding such risks;

2.6.2.  Preventing situations that threaten the strategic goals and objectives
of the Company, and providing protection against them;

2.6.3.  Coordinating and integrating risk management affecting various
aspects of the Company’s financial and business activities to gener-
ally increase the efficiency of management;

2.6.4. Taking advantage of opportunities for increasing the value of the
Company’s assets and the Company’s long-term profitability; and

2.6.5.
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Article 3. Risk Identification

3.1. The Company uses its best efforts to identify all material risks. To achieve
this objective, the Company uses standardized questionnaires, joint meetings
of those persons responsible for risk identification, surveys conducted by
external consultants, benchmarking, results of internal and external audits,
and other methods of risk identification.

3.2.  The Company identifies the risks related to all aspects of its operations, and
maintains a register of risks. The register is limited to the description of
the nature of the risk, and an experts’ opinion regarding the materiality of
such risks for the Company’s operations. The register shall be updated
periodically to reflect any changes in the external and internal conditions
of the Company’s operations.

Article 4. Analysis, Evaluation, and Classification of Risks

4.1.  For each of the material risks, the Company assesses the probability of all pos-
sible outcomes, and the expected effects of each risk on shareholder value.

4.2. Based on this assessment and the allocation of certain risks to a certain
management function (e.g. strategic, operating, financial), risks are classified
in the form of a “risk chart” and “risk matrix.”*

4.3. The Company uses simple, measurable, and well-defined indicators that
allow it to assess the current probability of an expected event that correspond
to each material risk. When an indicator approaches a certain critical
threshold, it signals the necessity for management’s and/or the Supervisory
Board’s intervention and decision-making.

4.4. For each risk indicator, the Company determines critical thresholds based
on the level of acceptable risk and the relevant objectives of the Company.

4.5.  After a preliminary assessment of the risks identified, the Company reviews
registered risks in light of the Company’s priorities and needs. As a result,
risks that have been rated as high or low may receive a different rating.*®

24 Methods of assessment and the risk chart/matrix format depend upon the objectives and

specific features of a company’s operations. The main goal of the chart is to illustrate relative
priorities of material risks and allocate them by certain areas of functional responsibility. An
example has been included at the end of this By-law in Exhibits 1 and 2.

205 If the risks are re-evaluated, minutes reflecting the relevant discussions on this matter should

be kept. Many of the risks may be insignificant, but sometimes they may be numerous.
This, in turn, may impede focusing on major and material risks.
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Article 5. Risk Management Methods

5.1.  For each material risk, the Company develops methods and solutions for deal-
ing with such risks, for minimizing possible losses, but also to take advantage
of opportunities presented. Such methods include, but are not limited to, de-
tailed response programs when risk indicators reach critical thresholds.

5.2.  The type and structure of the method is based on a reasonable balance
between the expected economic effect of its application and the costs of its
implementation.

5.3.  Main risk management methods applied by the Company are:

5.3.1.  Acceptance and recording of risk;

5.3.2.  Sharing the risk with other parties;

5.3.3. Termination of risk (e.g. canceling the project);

5.3.4. Financing the risk (insurance, additional investments, or financing
for the project, reducing the risk to an acceptable level);

5.3.5. Diversification of risks; and

5.3.6.

5.4. Key considerations for choosing risk management methods are:

5.4.1. The Company’s willingness to accept a certain amount of risk;
5.4.2. Balance between preventive versus detective controls;

5.4.3.  Weighing the costs versus the benefits of control; and

5.4.4.

Article 6. Monitoring and Control of the Risk Management System

6.1. The Company shall ensure ongoing monitoring and review of the risk
management system.

Article 7. Bodies Responsible for the Risk Management System

7.1.  The Heads of the Company’s structural units are responsible for identifying
risks in their respective areas of the Company’s operations and within the
scope of their authority as vested in them by the General Director.

7.2.  The General Director is responsible for the implementation of the Compa-
ny’s overall risk management policy.

7.3.  The General Director establishes a standing body [a council,
committee, commission, risk management department] that reports
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directly to the General Director. This body consists of the following
persons:

7.3.1.  Deputy General Director;
7.3.2. Heads of structural units;

7.3.3. ;
7.3.4. ; and
7.3.5.
7.4.  The body shall meet regularly, once every ___ weeks to address the follow-
ing issues:

7.4.1. The Company’s operational, financial, and strategic risks, and any
other risks identified by the structural units of the Company;

7.4.2.  The appraisal and analysis of identified risks;

7.4.3.  The development and review of the risk chart;

7.44. The development of risk management methods for each separate
risk; and

7.4.5.

7.5.  Results of the risk management body meetings are reported directly to the
[0} General Director.

7.6.  The General Director is responsible for submitting regular reports to the
Supervisory Board that include information on the overall condition of the
risk management system, any deficiencies in the system which have been
identified, and specific proposals for its improvement.

7.7.  If the Supervisory Board receives information on any material deficiencies
in the risk management system, it commences an audit of the executive
bodies and, if necessary, an assessment of the effectiveness of the risk
management system.

7.8.  The Supervisory Board approves the Company’s risk management policy,
reviews its efficiency, and takes measures to improve it on regular basis.

7.9.  The control over the Company’s risk management system is the responsibil-
ity of the Supervisory Board [the Audit Committee and/or the Strategic
Planning and Finance Committee, if established].

7.10. The Supervisory Board reviews the following issues on a regular basis:
7.10.1. The nature and relative weight (significance) to be assigned to

various risks faced by the Companys;
7.10.2. Identification of acceptable and unacceptable risks for the Company;
7.10.3. The Company’s ability to compensate for losses associated with
risks or manage those risks deemed acceptable;
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7.10.4. The cost of maintaining a comprehensive risk management system
relative to its potential economic effect;

7.10.5. Structure and arrangements of the Company’s risk management
system; and

7.10.6.

7.11. After receiving the annual appraisal of the risk management system, the
Supervisory Board shall discuss and take a position on:

7.11.1. Changes in the nature and priorities of material risks since the most recent
annual review, and the Company’s ability to react to such changes;

7.11.2. Quality and volume of activities of the executive bodies, Internal
Auditor, and other bodies of internal control in the area of risk
management;

7.11.3.  Whether the reports on the status of risk management are pro-
vided by the executive bodies to the Supervisory Board and its
committees in a timely and complete fashion;

7.11.4. Material errors in the risk management system during the reporting
period, and the consequences of such errors for the Company’s
financial and business activities;

7.11.5. The efficiency of the Company’s accountability to outside stake-
holders; and

7.11.6.

Article 8. Disclosure of Information on Risk Management

8.1.  The risk management policy is viewed as an important element of the in-
ternal organizational culture, and shall be communicated to all employees.
The company maintains communication channels between the Supervisory
Board, the executive bodies, and all functional units for appropriate manage-
ment of operational and strategic risks.

8.2.  The Company discloses in its annual report the following information for
outside stakeholders:

8.2.1.  The structure of responsibility for various risk management functions;

8.2.2.  An analysis of material risks to the Company;

8.2.3.  Control processes for material risks, and risk management methods;

8.2.4. Changes made to the company’s risk management system and the
grounds for such changes; and

8.2.5.
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EXHIBIT

Company/Project Name:

Project Status:

1. RISK MANAGEMENT CHART

1. PARTIES INVOLVED:

Name

Title Department/Company

2. POTENTIAL RISKS:

Potential Risks

Reasons/Explanations

3. RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN:

Potential Risks

Actions taken/planned
(include staff name, date/timeline of action)

Prepared by:

Reviewed by:

Received by:

Date: Signature:
Date: Signature:
Date: Signature:
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Annex 27. A Model By-Law on Risk Management
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Annex 28
A MODEL BY-LAW ON INTERNAL CONTROL

APPROVED
By decision of the Supervisory Board
of the Open Joint Stock Company « »

Supervisory Board Minutes
No.

of 200_

Signature of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board

dated this __ day of , 200
[The Company’s Seal]

BY-LAW ON INTERNAL CONTROL

of the Open Joint Stock Company

« »

The city of
, 200_
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1.1.

1.2.

This By-law on Internal Control (hereinafter the By-law) of the Open Joint

Stock Company «

» (hereinafter the Company)

has been drafted in accordance with the laws of the Russian Federation
(hereinafter the Law), the charter and other internal corporate documents
of the Company, and relevant recommendations of the Federal Commission
for the Securities Market’s Code of Corporate Conduct (hereinafter the

FCSM Code).

The By-Law defines the goals and objectives, principles, and processes, as
well as the Company’s bodies and persons responsible for internal con-

trols.
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Article 2. Definitions

2.1. Internal control is a process conducted jointly by the Supervisory Board,
management, and the company’s employees, the aim of which is to provide
reasonable guarantees that the following Company objectives are attained:

2.1.1.  Financial reporting is reliable and accurate;

2.1.2.  Operations are efficient and effective; and

2.1.3.  Activities and processes comply with the Law, the Company’s in-
ternal rules and guidelines.

2.2.  The internal control system includes the following interrelated elements:

2.2.1. Control environment;

2.2.2.  Risk assessment;

2.2.3.  Control procedures;

2.2.4. Information and communication; and

2.2.5. Control and monitoring of the internal control system’s effi-
ciency.

Article 3. Principles

3.1. The Company’s internal system control is based on the following prin-
ciples:

3.1.1.  The internal control system functions at all times, without inter-
ruption. A system of internal control that functions on an ongoing
basis allows the Company to identify deviations on a timely basis,
and helps to predict such deviations in the future.

3.1.2.  Each person involved in the internal control process is held account-
able. The performance of each person carrying out internal control
functions is, therefore, managed by yet another person within the
internal control system.

3.1.3.  The system of internal control segregates duties. The company pro-
hibits any duplication of control functions, and distributes functions
among the employees so that one and the same person does not
combine functions relating to the authorization of operations with
certain assets, recording of such operations, ensuring and safe-keep-
ing of assets, and inventory of these same assets.

285
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3.1.4.  Proper authorization and approval of operations is established. The
Company establishes procedures for the approval of all financial
and business operations only by authorized persons acting within
the scope of their authority;

3.1.5. The Company ensures the organizational separation of its subdivi-
sion responsible for internal control and, moreover, ensures that
this subdivision is accountable directly to the Supervisory Board
(specifically its Audit Committee);

3.1.6.  All persons involved in the Company’s internal control process are
responsible for the proper performance of control processes;

3.1.7.  All units and departments integrate and cooperate with one another
to ensure proper implementation of the internal control system;

3.1.8. A culture of continuous development and improvement has been
put in place. The Company’s internal control system is structured
in such a way to ensure that it can be flexibly “tuned” to address
new issues, and be receptive to expansions and upgrades in the
system;

3.1.9. A system for timely reporting any deviations has been put in place.
Ensuring the timeliness of reporting on deviations with the shortest
possible deadlines allows authorized persons to receive such infor-
mation in a timely manner and act in an expeditious manner to
correct them;

3.1.10. The level of complexity of the internal control system corresponds
to the level of importance of the object under control;

3.1.11. The Company prioritizes its activities. The Company’s areas of
strategic importance are covered by the internal control system, even
if the efficiency of monitoring such areas, and the ratio between
the costs and the economic benefits are difficult to measure; and

3.1.12. The Company’s internal control system is comprehensive, that is,
it covers all operational areas.

Article 4. Control Environment

4.1.

286
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The control environment within the Company can best be described as the
general attitude of directors, senior managers, and shareholders towards the
internal control system, and their awareness and practical actions aimed at
establishing and maintaining the internal control system in the Company.
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4.2. Control environment factors include:

4.2.1.

4.2.2.
4.2.3.

4.2.4.

The integrity, ethical values, and competence of the Company’s
employees;

Management’s philosophy and operating style;

The way management assigns authorities and responsibilities, and
organizes and develops its own employees; and

The attention and direction provided by the Supervisory Board.

Article 5. Risk Assessment

5.1.  The identification and assessment of the Company’s risks is performed in

accordance with

206

Article 6. Control Activities

6.1. Control activities are the policies and procedures that help ensure that man-
agement directives are carried out, and that necessary steps to address risks
are taken.

6.2.  Specific internal control procedures include:

6.2.1.

6.2.2.
6.2.3.
6.2.4.
6.2.5.
6.2.6.
6.2.7.

6.2.8.

6.2.9.
6.2.10.

Controlling the implementation of the financial and business plans
of the Company;

Comparing current operational data with the budget;

Comparing data provided by various operating units of the Company;
Examining the accuracy of accounting entries;

Checking the accuracy and timeliness of document flows;
Evaluating the efficiency of certain specific transactions;
Checking for the management approvals of the underlying pri-
mary documents;

Conducting periodic and unscheduled inspections, inventories of
assets and liabilities;

Reconciliating and confirmating settlement accounts;

Using information from external sources for the purposes of con-
trol;

26 Insert the name of the by-law or other document regulating the company’s risk management
procedures. See also Annex 27 for a model by-law on risk management.
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6.2.11. Controlling the use of tangible assets;

6.2.12. Physically limiting access to the Company’s assets, the underlying
primary documents, accounting registers, and electronic accounting
files;

6.2.13. ; and

6.2.14.

Article 7. Information and Communication

7.1. Information and communication refer to the identification, capture, and
exchange of information in a timely and useful manner.

7.2.  The Company ensures the availability of full and accurate information on
events and conditions that may affect the Company’s decision-making.

7.3.  The Company is committed to creating a comprehensive system of informa-
tion dissemination to cover all areas of the Company’s activities. Informa-
tion system software is authorized and protected in accordance with pro-
cedures adopted by the Company.

7.4. The Company seeks to create efficient communication channels to ensure
that all governing bodies and persons involved in the internal control process
understand and adhere to approved policies and procedures.

7.5.  The Company ensures the protection of information by prohibiting and
preventing unauthorized access.

Article 8. Control and Monitoring of the Internal Control System

8.1. An ongoing evaluation of the internal control system is conducted to de-
termine the probability and materiality of errors, the occurrence of which
could influence the accuracy of financial statements, and in order to de-
termine whether the internal control system is meeting its stated objec-
tives.

8.2. The review of the Company’s internal control system is conducted in two
stages:

8.2.1. A general overview of the internal control system and preliminary
evaluation of its reliability (Annex 1); and

8.2.2. The confirmation of evaluations of material elements of the inter-
nal control system (Annex 2).
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Article 9. Bodies and Persons Responsible for Internal Control

9.1.  The Supervisory Board and the executive bodies of the Company are re-
sponsible for establishing the proper internal control environment and
maintaining high ethical standards at all levels of the Company’s opera-
tions.

9.2.  The Supervisory Board (through its Audit Committee, if established) shall
be responsible for the approval of the internal control procedures that fall
within the authority of the Supervisory Board.

9.3.  The General Director is responsible for devising and implementing the
internal control system throughout the Company. For this, the General
Director delegates certain authority to managers who are responsible for
internal control functions within specific areas of the Company’s activi-
ties.

9.4. The control and audit body of the Company*” or
[specify the name of another person/body in charge of the internal audit
function] implements control activities on a daily basis and reports to the
Supervisory Board (or its Audit Committee, if established) and the Com-
pany’s executive bodies on the results of the internal audit of the internal
control system. The control and audit body reports to and is functionally
accountable to the Supervisory Board, and is administratively accountable
to the General Director.

9.5. The control and audit body is comprised of _____ staff members that have

the following qualifications:**

9.5.1. ;
9.5.2. ; and
9.5.3.

9.6.  The control and audit body holds regular meetings whenever necessary, but
not less than one meeting every weeks.

9.7.  The results of the meetings of the control and audit body are presented to
the General Director [Finance Director] and the Chairman of the Supervi-
sory Board [Chairman of the Audit Committee].

27 The control audit body may be the Control and Revision Service, or the Internal Auditor, or
any other company department.

2% For example, a higher educational degree, __ years of professional experience in the
industry or sector, etc.

289
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9.8. The Company’s executive bodies shall annually prepare a report on the
internal control regarding the preparation of financial statements for the
Supervisory Board __ days before the Supervisory Board shall approve the
annual report and the annual financial statements.?”

9.9. The report on the internal control over the preparation of financial state-
ments shall contain:

9.9.1. A confirmation of the top managers’ responsibility for implement-
ing proper internal control over the preparation of the financial
statements;

9.9.2. A description of the internal control system and methods used to
evaluate the efficiency of the system;

9.9.3.  Evaluation of the efficiency of the internal control over the prepa-
ration of the financial statements as of the end of the latest fiscal
year as carried out by top managers;

9.9.4. Confirmation that the Company’s External Auditor prepared an
opinion on management’s evaluation;

9.9.5. ; and

9.9.6.

9.10. The Company develops a schedule of audits of its internal control system,
and its subsidiary companies.

9.11. The following functions shall not be allocated to one and the same per-
son:

9.11.1. Immediate and unrestrained access to the assets of a business entity;
9.11.2. Approval of operations with such assets;

9.11.3. Conducting business operations; and

9.11.4. Accounting of business operations.

9.12. The proper functioning of the internal control system depends upon the
professionalism of its employees. The Company employs systems of selec-
tion, engagement, promotion, and professional training of personnel that
ensure the highest qualifications and integrity of such personnel.

9.13. Executive bodies shall disclose information on material deficiencies in the
internal control system.

29 Article 404 of the U.S. Sarbanes-Oxley Act (2002) requires use of this particular report.
Accordingly, Russian companies are strongly advised to consider using this report.
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Exhibit 1. General Overview of the Internal Control System and Preliminary

Evaluation of Its Reliability?"°

Control Environment

| Yes | No | N/A

Organizational Structure

The organizational structure has been developed and approved. It illustrates all
departments, clearly indicating relations among management and the subordina-
tion of departments (employees).

The organizational structure of the department responsible for maintaining ac-
counting records has been developed and approved indicating the relations
within management and subordination of departments (employees).

Approved procedures on document flow exist, which list all of activities involving
the production, review, and processing of documents performed by the depart-
ments and individual employees, and specifies relevant deadlines.

Allocation of Duties, Powers, and Liability

The duties of those employees responsible for conducting commercial, financial,
and business operations are clearly separated from the duties of those employ-
ees in charge of reflecting such operations in the operating system and/or ac-
counting records.

The separation of functions and duties exists among the employees involved in
the operations in a particular segment from their ability to exercise control over
the accounting in such segment.

There are job descriptions for accounting unit employees which specify the allo-
cation of duties, define liability, and establish the scope of authority for each po-
sition.

Those officers having the right to sign underlying documents are clearly identi-
fied.

The persons responsible for safekeeping assets have been officially appointed,
and there is a clear system of accountability for such persons.

If the Company owns expensive assets, the number of persons authorized to
dispose of them is limited in number.

Human Resources Policy

10.

Training sessions, and continuing professional education seminars are conducted
for:

e The members of the inventory commission in connection with the procedure
for conducting and summarizing the results of the inventory of assets;

e The cashier regarding rules for conducting cash operations;

e Those persons accountable for assets regarding matters of control over the
assets; and

e The accounting employees to offer additional training and advanced train-
ing, etc.

IFC_part_6.indd 291
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Notes:

1) The Company uses three levels — high, medium, and low — for the purpose
of assessing the efficiency and reliability of the internal control system in
general, the control culture, and the specific control procedures employed by
the Company.

2) The grading at this stage is done by analyzing the data in the table. The
ratio of positive answers, i.e. those checked “yes”, in relation to the total
number of questions in the questionnaire will be the basis for the assess-
ment. If the ratio is 40-60%, the preliminary assessment of the internal
control system shall be assessed as medium. If the ratio is less than 40%,
the level of the internal control system will be defined as low, and if it is
more than 60%, as high.

3) The results of any preliminary review of the accounting and internal control
systems are generally insufficient to draw a final conclusion as to the overall
efficiency of the internal control system, since a low assessment of reliability
of the internal control system and/or separate controls does not preclude a
medium or high assessment of the level of other individual controls. How-
ever, the results of the first stage should be taken into account during the
process of further review (see Exhibit 2).

4) The completed table is used as the basis for assessing each section and the
entire stage, in general. Subsequently, a review is planned based on the
given results. One should not rely on the existing internal control system
in the areas affected by the sections graded as “low,” and items for which
the answer was “no.” Attention should be paid to those specific areas as-
sessed negatively, although the section as a whole may have been graded as
“medium” or “high.” Based on the initial result received upon assessment
of the entire stage, a decision is made whether one can rely on the internal
control system or not.
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Exhibit 2. Confirming the Evaluation of Material Elements of the Internal

Control System?"

No.

System of Control

Notes

General Matters

Does management create the appropriate atmosphere and culture in the Com-
pany regarding matters of internal control?

Does any control and audit body implement internal control?

Does any regular program regarding the review and assessment of the internal
control system exist as the Company’s operations change?

Does the reporting system provide sufficient information to identify any material
financial and operational problems in a timely manner?

Does the Audit Committee receive the same comments from the External Audi-
tor regarding the internal control system as management does?

How does the External Auditor evaluate the Company’s internal control system?
What suggestions have been made? Does the External Auditor prepare a report
regarding internal control measures for preparing financial statements? Do the
Company and its External Auditor provide a report on the internal control system
to the Company’s shareholders?

Has the External Auditor identified any material defects in the internal control
system’s structure or functioning? Were any of them serious enough to be
considered “material defects”? What was done to cure such defects?

Do both management and the Supervisory Board consider the Company’s inter-
nal control system to be effective? What mechanisms exist within the Company
to prevent accounting fraud or other violations of accounting principles?

How often do the control and audit bodies of the Company (the Revision Com-
mission, the Control and Audit Service, or the Internal Auditor) examine the
Company’s internal control policies and procedures? Have any serious defects
been identified? And, if so, what was done to cure such defects?

Fraudulent and lllegal Practices

10.

Does the Company have any program in place to detect and prevent fraud? Who
is responsible for corporate security? Does the Company have a good control
system to protect the Company’s technology, commercial secrets, and other
confidential information?

11.

Are the internal control policies and procedures efficient enough to reveal any
potential defects, fraud, or illegal practices? Is the the control system sufficient
enough to uncover any unauthorized transactions, for example, unauthorized
securities operations?

211
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No. System of Control Notes
Fraudulent and lllegal Practices (continued)
12. | Is there any system in place which protects against the misappropriation of the
Company’s assets?
13. | Does the control and audit body of the Company have any processes specifi-

cally intended to prevent fraud? Do they include discussions with management
regarding implementing of measures to prevent fraud? Does the Audit Commit-
tee discuss with the External Auditor its review of the risk of fraud during the
course of audits?

14.

Did the Audit Committee receive any information regarding fraudulent or illegal
practices occurring during the previous year? If such practices occurred, what
arrangements did management and the auditing authorities make for dealing
with such events?

15.

Were any employees involved in committing fraud? If so, what sanctions were
imposed against such employees? Were these cases disclosed to the public?

16.

What policies and procedures does the Company have in order to uncover and
prevent any insider transactions? Were any such violations revealed during the
previous year? If so, what measures did management and the control and audit
body take to rectify the situation?

17.

Does the Company have any policies or procedures concerning voluntarily dis-
closing information as to material terms (the price, periods, payment proce-
dures) of supply agreements with counterparts representing the interests of
state agencies or departments?

18.

Who is responsible for the enforcement of the Company’s internal control policies
and procedures? Does this person have a sufficiently high level of experience and
expertise to ensure efficient performance of its duties and responsibilities?

19.

Are the Company’s lawyers required by the Company to report any possible vio-
lations of laws and regulations to executives at the relevant level? Has such in-
formation ever been reported? If so, what measures were taken as a result?

External Audit

20.

How often does the External Auditor meet with the control and audit body and
the Audit Committee? Does management take part in such meetings? Does the
Audit Committee meet with the External Auditor separately, i.e. without manage-
ment being present?

21.

Does the Audit Committee analyze the breadth and degree of the External Audi-
tor’ intended audit prior to such audit? Does it hold any meetings with the Ex-
ternal Auditor when the audit is completed? What mechanism ensures that the
Audit Committee follows the Auditor’'s recommendations?

22.

Who appoints the External Auditor? What is the decision-making process for
the Audit Committee to decide on appointment of the existing Auditor or election
of a new one? If shareholders do not approve this decision, what are the rea-
sons?

23.

Does the External Auditor have any relationship with management or the Super-
visory Board that may be viewed as a conflict of interest?

294
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No.

System of Control

Notes

External Audit (continued)

24.

What kind of non-audit services does the External Auditor provide? Do the fees
for such non-audit services significantly exceed typical audit fees and if so,
why? How do the fees for non-audit services compare with the fees paid by
other companies in the same industry in terms of their form and amount?

25.

Has any competitive selection process been carried out, or any other method
used to guarantee that the External Auditor's services are offered at market
prices and pursuant to accepted standards? What fees do other consulting
firms charge, and what is the percentage of the total fees for such consulting
services that the External Auditor receives?

26.

Does the External Auditor provide the Company with any internal audit ser-
vices? Does the Company plan on having the External Auditor provide such
services?

27.

Does the External Auditor advise the Company on matters of structuring trans-
actions? If so, what kind of advice is provided? Does the External Auditor ana-
lyze any material and complex transactions from the point of view of accounting
and tax matters? Is the control and audit body informed about such transac-
tions? What methods are applied to supply the External Auditor with all the
necessary information in order to ensure accurate taxation? Does the Company
consult with the technical staff of the External Auditor? Has the Company ever
had any disagreements with the External Auditor concerning the accounting for
such complicated transactions?

28.

Has the Company ever considered periodic rotation of the External Auditor’s lead
partner, or even the entire audit firm?

29.

How many years has the External Auditor audited the Company?

30.

If the External Auditor was dismissed/replaced, what were the reasons? If the
External Auditor refused to conduct further audits of the Company, what were
the reasons?

31.

Did the company have any disagreements with the previous External Auditor
concerning the Company’s accounting practices? If so, what were the reasons
of such disagreements?

32.

What are the nature and scope of errors in the financial statements which were
revealed by the External Auditor and which were not corrected by manage-
ment?

33.

Did the Audit Committee have any consultations with its advisers or any
other audit firm? What necessitated such consultations? Does the Audit
Committee believe that such consultations will become a standard practice in
the future?

34.

Does the Company use the services of any other audit firms in order to audit
its subsidiaries? Are all the Company’s divisions audited? Is any Auditor’s
report on financial statements of Company’s subsidiaries qualified? If yes,
why did the Auditor’s report on the parent company not disclose such infor-
mation?

35.

Does the External Auditor visit the main operating units of the Company on a
regular basis?

IFC_part_6.indd 295
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No.

System of Control

Notes

Internal Audit

36.

Does the Company have an Internal Auditor or internal audit unit? If not, does the
Company plan on establishing one? When will it start operating? What costs are
involved in its creation?

37.

How many Internal Auditors are there in the Company, and how does this figure
compare to similar companies? What is the amount of annual expenses for
maintaining the Internal Auditor? What have been the trends for changing the
personnel of the Company’s Internal Auditor over the last five years?

38.

How often do the internal audit representatives meet the Audit Committee?
Does management take part in such meetings? Are any meetings held without
management’s participation? Does the Audit Committee meet the Internal Auditors
separately?

39.

Does the Audit Committee conduct a preliminary evaluation of the scope of work
of the Internal Auditors? What mechanism, if any, ensures the Committee’s
compliance with the Internal Auditors’ recommendations?

40.

Does the Internal Auditor participate in the audit of financial statements?

41.

Does the Company have any Internal Auditors specializing in the audit of infor-
mation systems and control systems? Do their responsibilities include exami-
nation of computer security and business continuity planning?

42.

Does the Internal Auditor include specialists in the area of operations with finan-
cial instruments? How often does the Internal Auditor inspect operations with
derivative instruments and risk management procedures?

43.

Is the Internal Auditor encouraged to receive additional professional training (for
example, to qualify as a certified accountant)? How is the appropriate profes-
sional level of the Company’s Internal Auditor maintained?

44,

What governing body does the Internal Auditor report to? Does the head of the
Internal Auditor function have permanent access to Audit Committee members?
Does the Supervisory Board approve the By-law on Internal Control and the
scope of work of the Internal Auditor? Can management dismiss the head of the
Internal Auditor without the consent of the Audit Committee?

45.

Are there any limitations on the scope of work of the Internal Auditor? Do the
Internal Auditors have unrestricted access to all units, documents and personnel
of the Company?

46.

How often do the representatives of the Internal Auditor visit each of the operat-
ing units? Do they audit foreign units? Are there any offices or units of the
Company that the Internal Auditors have never visited?

47.

Does the Internal Auditor conduct operational (managerial) audits intending to
identify opportunities to increase production efficiency and eliminate instances
of inefficient operation? How much time does the operational audit take in com-
parison with the financial audit?

48.

Do the Internal Auditors prepare written reports for each audit? Who receives
such reports? Who is responsible for implementing the recommendations?

49.

Does the Company use the External Auditor's employees to conduct internal
audits? If so, does this procedure violate the requirements regarding the Exter-
nal Auditor’s independence?
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No.

System of Control

Notes

Internal Audit (continued)

50.

Does the Company engage any other audit firm to conduct the internal audit?
What is the relationship between the External Auditor and the firm that provides
internal audit services?

51.

Has an external audit of the standards and efficiency of the Internal Auditor ever
been conducted?

General Financial Accounting Matters

52.

How does the Company gauge the quality of its accounting practices? Can the
Company’s accounting policy generally be described as aggressive or conserva-
tive?

53.

Have the press or analysts expressed any concerns regarding the accounting
policy of the Company?

54.

How does the Company’s accounting policy compare with those of its main
competitors?

55.

Is the Company’s accounting policy consistent with the last year’s policy? Were
there any changes in the accounting policy? If so, how did such changes influ-
ence the financial results? Are there any plans to change the accounting policy
next year? What is the expected effect?

56.

What quantitative and qualitative factors does the Company consider important
for purposes of making decisions regarding the materiality of violations during
reviews of the financial statements?

57.

Did the Company have to amend the profit and loss statement? If yes, what was
the reason for the misstatement, and how was it discovered? Is there any pos-
sibility that these misstatements were deliberate?

58.

Why has the information about (a material event such as acquisition,
write-off, or sale) not been made available earlier? How long did such informa-
tion remain undisclosed? Is the Company considering any similar transactions
in the near future?

59.

Are the financial statements of the Company available on the internet? Does the
Company plan to distribute hard copies of its annual report directly to share-
holders?

60.

Why did the Company change its accounting method of [name
transactions]? Why is the new method better than the old one?

61.

What is the cause for the increase/reduction of [name account] as com-
pared to the last year?

62.

What general items were included into [name account]?

63.

What is the Company’s accounting policy regarding ___ [name transaction]?

64.

What extraordinary accounting entries affected the comparability of results?

65.

What items are included into “other” in (name the balance sheet line]?

66.

What kind of information does the Company provide regarding its trading activity,
in particular, its over the counter transactions where fair or market value price
must be determined separately?
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No. System of Control Notes
Financial Accounting Matters: Information Disclosure in the Annual Report
67. | Does the Company include in its annual report information on material aspects

of its accounting policy, assumptions and uncertainties that affect the applica-
tion of its policy, and the probability of the amounts being materially different
based on other assumptions? What are the most material assumptions and
qualifications that management uses in preparing the financial statements?

68.

What does the Company do in order to make its financial statements transparent
and easy to understand? Do the financial statements of the Company and its
annual report reflect actual business risks and economic reality accurately, com-
pletely, and clearly?

69.

Why does the Company not increase the scope of information in its annual re-
port by including more analytical information and forecasts, and information
about current issues and steps to resolve problems?

70.

Does the Company’s annual report clearly explain the external environment, in-
dustry dynamics, and the Company’s position in the market?

71.

Does the Company’s annual report reflect its strategy in terms of its market
capitalization?

72.

Are the Company’s financial objectives clearly stated, and to what extent have
they been fulfilled by the Company? Is information included about the manage-
rial and governance structures responsible for fulfilling the Company’s strate-
gies?

73.

Is it clear from the annual report what the basis for the Company’s financial
performance is, how efficient the Company is in managing such resources as
personnel, innovations, clients, trademarks, and suppliers, and what the Compa-
ny’s reputation is with stakeholders in terms of its environmental responsibility?

Financial Accounting Matters: Accounting

74.

Have accounting records been kept in accordance with the Company’s approved
accounting policy for the relevant period?

75.

Does the Chief Accountant or any other authorized person check internal trans-
actions to control whether all current business transactions are fully reflected in
the accounts, and whether internal transactions comply with the rules in ef-
fect?

76.

If the Company is conducting internal transactions which are not referenced or
reflected in the chart of accounts (accounting records), do these internal trans-
actions lead to a violation of accounting rules and, as a result, are misstatements
of the taxable base and financial results material?

7.

Are the business transactions authorized by management, both in their entirety
and on each phase of the transaction (for example, all underlying petty cash
vouchers and accounts payable are approved by the authorized manager)?

78.

Do the accounting records reflect all business transactions based on the pri-
mary documents only?

79.

Do the synthetic accounting balance data in the ledger correspond to the ac-
counting balance data in the order record books or in any other backup account-
ing registers?
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No.

System of Control

Notes

Financial Accounting Matters: Accounting (continued)

80.

Does analytical accounting data correspond to primary document data regarding
the designation, terms and amount, and to the synthetic accounting data?

81.

Do the closing balances in the accounting registers correspond to the opening
balances of the next reporting period?

82.

Are there any inconsistencies between the amounts of a particular internal trans-
action as reflected in different accounting registers (for example, in the order
register and in the ledger)?

83.

Are there any inconsistencies between the balances of any particular account as
reflected in different accounting registers (for example, the balance of the cash
account which is registered in the ledger may not correspond to the same ac-
count balance registered in the cashbook)?

84.

Are primary documents and accounting registers free from any notes made in
pencil or unspecified corrections?

85.

Are accounting operations registered on the basis of the accrual method?

86.

Has any particular person been appointed to be responsible for, and is there any
control over the timing of payments under invoices to avoid penalties for the
breach of contractual obligations?

87.

Are earmarked funds used for their intended purpose (subject to approved esti-
mates and plans)?

88.

Are all funds created in accordance with the Company’s charter spent in ac-
cordance with their purpose?

Financial Accounting Matters: Financial Results

89.

How do actual sales and revenues relate to the numbers in the forecasts and the
budget, or the numbers for the previous year? If any differences exists, what are
the reasons for such differences? To what extent did operating volumes influence
these differences? Or the assortment of goods/services? Or the price?

90.

If the financial results of the Company differ from the forecasted figures or from
forecasts by analysts, what are the reasons?

91.

What percentage of any increase in sales is accounted for by new acquisitions?

92.

How much money did the Company save over the past year because of cost-sav-
ing measures?

93.

What share of the Company’s net profit accounts for one-time transactions?
What kind of transactions were they?

94.

How do revenues and the major financial indices of the Company compare with
the data for other companies in this industry? How do cash flows and the Com-
pany’s liquidity compare with those of its competitors? If operational cash flows
fail to grow as fast as the net profit, what are the reasons for that?

95.

How much money was spent on advertising and goods promotion this past
year? Will these expenses increase or decrease next year?

96.

If the Company’s receivables increase faster than sales, what are the reasons for
that? Does the Company provide major clients with additional financing in order
to encourage sales? Has the Company had to write off any part of such debts?
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No. System of Control Notes
Financial Accounting Matters: Financial Results (continued)
97. | What was the total amount of debt written off last year? How can it be compared

with other companies in this industry? What were the largest amounts of debt
written off?

98.

How much in receivables are owed by insolvent or bankrupt companies? Has
any reserve been set aside, and if so, do such reserves cover the full amount of
these debts?

99.

Is there any risk of default from the Company’s major suppliers or customers,
or other major contracting parties, because of financial problems or bank-
ruptcy?

100.

Are there any direct or indirect operational risks, including risks connected with
off-balance contracts, with a company that has initiated bankruptcy proceed-
ings?

101.

Does the Company have any joint investment projects, derivative, or other
contracts with a company that has claimed bankruptcy? If yes, has the
value of such joint investments decreased as a direct result thereof?
What was the estimated value of those investments at the end of the
year?

102.

Why are [a competitor’s] operational results so much better than the Com-
pany’s results?

103.

How does the Company’s return on investments compare with other companies
in this industry?

104.

How does the Company’s profitability compare with changes in revenues? If the
net profit has not grown in proportion to revenues, then what factors influenced
the situation?

105.

Were there any material revisions of profit data made in the fourth quarter?

Control Over Computer Data Processing System

106.

Is software appropriately licensed?

107.

Is the program protected from access by third parties who may change or delete
data?

108.

Are electronic accounting data backed-up on a regular basis to prevent loss or
deletion?

109.

Do the original electronic forms (templates) of primary documents and ac-
counting registers developed by the company (an order register, a cash
register, the ledger) satisfy the requirements for unified and approved
forms?

110.

Does the business accounting data processing algorithms comply with current
laws? When using the electronic business accounting method overall, or in
certain areas, is it necessary to selectively check and confirm the validity of
calculations under the main orders? For example, when using the computerized
method of filling in tax returns, are the tax accounting formulas and the tax rates
correct? When using the computerized method of filling in accounting forms,
are the formula and synthetic accounts which are involved in the calculations
correct?
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Notes:

1) The processing of the data is carried out in the same way as for the table in
Exhibit 1. Thereafter, an evaluation of the functioning of the accounting and
internal control system should be separately conducted for each Company
unit and for the Company as a whole.

2) The report on the evaluation shall provide a description of any identified
shortcomings with suggestions for remedying such deficiencies. In this way,
those parts of the accounting and internal control systems that require special
attention and focus from the Supervisory Board will be identified, and efforts
made to minimize the risks of recurrence. The resulting data analysis should
indicate the status of the internal control system in each Company unit, and
will readily allow the identification of strengths and weaknesses in the ac-
counting and internal control systems.*?

3) The results of the aggregated data analysis in each Company unit should in-
dicate the level of the internal control system in the whole Company. A low
estimate indicates that material deficiencies in the internal control system
exist, and that the existing accounting and internal control systems in the
Company are not capable of identifying and curing significant deficiencies
and/or preventing such deficiencies from occurring.*?

212 Approximate results of the estimates:

* Financial operations reflected on the accounting with violations of legal requirements bring
into question the correctness of recording these transactions;

* Misstatement of cost and financial results records in certain accounting periods;

» Lack of control functions leads to unjustified expenditures of the company’s funds; and

 Contracts entered into which violate laws and regulations might be declared null and void
under Article 168 of the Civil Code.

213 Some examples of the most common deficiencies:

» Lack of proper delineation of duties, or multiple duplication of duties;

» Lack of proper control over, and approval of business transactions;

+ Lack of proper control while preparing and entering into business agreements;

* Inefficiency of control procedures;

* Intentional or unintentional violations of control procedures by company officials; and

» Accounting system violations by employees who are in charge of preparing initial docu-
ments.

301

IFC part 6.indd 301 @ 17.09.2004 11:24:40



Annex 29
GUIDELINES ON THE ANNUAL REPORT

Table of Contents

ParT . DRAFTING, APPROVING, AND PUBLISHING THE ANNUAL REPORT.......... 303
1. The Importance of the Annual Report for the Company .................... 304
2. Preparing Information for the Annual Report .............ccccovvveevvveervnee. 304

3. Procedures for the Approval and Publication
OF ANNUAI REPOITS ... 305
4. The Annual RePOrt's SITUCIUIE ..........coovvveeveeeeeeieiseieee e 307
ParT Il A MoDEL STRUCTURE OF THE ANNUAL REPORT .....cvivveviieicerenee 307
1. THE COVEE PAGE ... 307
2. OVBIVIBW ...t enans 307
3. The Address of the Company’s Chairman of the Supervisory Board......308
4. Information about the COMPANY ...........cccceveeeeeieieeeeeeeieeeeeeeieranne 308
5. Management's Discussion and Analysis .............ccooovvnninninencncnnn. 309
6. Market Share, Sales, and Marketing ..............cccuveeeeveveeeeveeeeeererannne. 310
7. SeCUritieS and EQUILY ...........cccccoeeeeeeessssisiessseeesssssssiaaiin 311
8. Corporate Governance Structures and Principles .............c.c.cccc....... 312
9. Environmental, Social, and Economic Sustainability ........................ 313
10. The Revision Commission’s Conclusions and Report ........................ 313
11. The External Auditor's OpinioN ...............ccvevevevevevevevrieisieieisisisisiserssnn, 314
12. Financial Statements, Notes, and COMMENtSs ...........ccccocovevevrverennnne. 314

Part |. Drafting, Approving, and Publishing the Annual Report

The purpose of these guidelines is both to summarize the standards and re-

quirements of current Russian legislation, and to succinctly present good
corporate governance practices relative to drafting annual reports for Open
Joint Stock Companies. This document consists of two parts. The first part
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contains general recommendations on procedures for drafting, approving, and
publishing the annual report, while the second part contains specific guidelines
and recommendations regarding the structure and content of annual reports.

1. The Importance of the Annual Report for the Company

The annual report is more than just a legal requirement — it should be seen first
and foremost as an information tool for the company’s shareholders. It may
also serve to highlight the company’s accomplishments and help attract potential
investors. The annual report should, however, present a balanced view. Balance
requires that the company not only focus on successes, but on setbacks as well.
The manner in which information about the company is presented, how that
information is grouped, and the key elements of the document’s layout and struc-
ture can all have a significant impact on readers. The specific structure chosen
by the company will of course depend upon the nature of its business activities,
and the specific goals and objectives chosen for the annual report. Ultimately, it
is the information contained in the annual report that will define its quality.

2. Preparing Information for the Annual Report

a) Defining the aims of the company’s information disclosure policy

The principal aims and purposes of disclosing information in the annual report
should be clearly defined at the outset of the preparation process, and might in-
clude any of the following:

* To demonstrate to shareholders the ability of management to respond suc-
cessfully to changes in the external business environment;

» To convince potential investors of the benefits of investing in the company;

* To convince key stakeholders of the company’s ability to withstand industry
crises; and

* Toinform the markets of the company’s earnings, how earnings were gener-
ated, and future performance potential.

b) Defining the target audience

Defining the target audience and its expectations in terms of disclosure is impor-
tant. The potential target audience may include one or more of the following
groups: shareholders, potential investors, state and local authorities, customers,
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suppliers, creditors, and employees. At a minimum, the following questions about
the target audience must be addressed:

¢ Who is the intended recipient?

*  Whatlevel of knowledge and skills in the fields of management, finance, and mar-
keting, and the company’s industry and sector does the potential reader have?

*  What effect should the report have on the reader?

*  What information about the company is the most important to potential
readers?

c) Defining responsibility

The Supervisory Board should ultimately be responsible for supervising the draft-
ing of the report. Nevertheless, it is advisable to establish a separate committee
or charge a specific person with the responsibility for preparing the information
and drafting the report.

d) Defining the contents

In terms of preparing the information to be included in the report, it should be
borne in mind that the report should do more than simply recite the company’s (O]
recent financial achievements — it should reflect the dynamics of the company’s
current and future development. For example, today’s market and potential inves-
tors not only require information about the company’s recent profits, but also
information about the company’s investments in R&D, its market share, capital
expenditures, technological innovations, and a description of its corporate govern-
ance, social, and environmental policies. The prevailing practice today is to divide
the annual report into various sections for quick reference. If the company intends
to attract foreign investment, the report should be drafted in a number of lan-
guages, ideally in English.

3. Procedures for the Approval and Publication of Annual Reports

In Russia, procedures for the preparation and publication of annual reports of
Open Joint Stock Companies are regulated by:

*  The Federal Law of December 26, 1995, No. 208 on Joint Stock Companies;
* The Federal Law of November 21, 1996, No. 129 on Accounting and Book-
keeping;
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* The Order of the Ministry of Finance of the Russian Federation of November
28,1996, No. 101 on Procedures for the Publication of Financial Statements
by Open Joint Stock Companies;

e The Federal Commission for the Securities Market (FCSM) Resolution of
May 31,2002, No. 17/ps on Approving the Regulations on Additional Require-
ments for Preparing, Calling, and Conducting the General Meeting of Share-
holders; and

* The FCSM Resolution of April 04,2002, No. 421/r on Recommendations to
the Application of the Code of Corporate Conduct (hereinafter the FCSM
Code).

The principal requirements of Russian law regarding the approval and publi-
cation of annual reports can be summarized as follows:

* The executive body is responsible for the annual report;

* The data contained in the annual report must be verified by the company’s
Revision Commission, and certain companies are also required to have their
annual financial statements verified by an independent External Auditor;*!

* The annual report has to be preliminarily approved by the company’s Super-
visory Board, but not later than 30 days before the date of the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting of Shareholders (AGM);

* The annual report must be signed by the General Director, as well as the chief ac-
countant, and contain a specific statement regarding its preliminary approval;

» Companies are required to disclose their annual reports to shareholders;

* The publication of financial statements is subject to AGM approval, but good
corporate governance practices dictate that they be publicly disclosed, ideally
through the company website as well; and

* The annual financial statements must be published no later than June 1* of
the year following the reporting year.’> The publication of financial statements
shall mean pubic disclosure through publication in the mass media, and they
are deemed publicly disclosed in the event of actual publication in at least one

24 Law on Auditing, Article 7, Clause 1, Paragraph 2 provides that companies must have an

annual, external audit conducted by a certified independent External Auditor (or a licensed
audit company), when the company is incorporated as an Open Joint Stock Company, or has
revenues for the reporting year greater that 500,000 times the minimum wage, or has a book
value of assets as of the year-end greater than 200,000 times the minimum wage.

215 Order of the Ministry of Finance of the Russian Federation, No. 101 on Procedures for the Publication
of Financial Statements by Open Joint Stock Companies, 28 November 1996, Section 1.1.
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printed media as may be set forth by the charter or decision of the General
Meeting of Shareholders (GMS).

4. The Annual Report’'s Structure

Until recently, there was no legal regulation of the structure of annual reports in
Russia. Lately, the trend has been to toughen regulations in this area. The FCSM
Regulation No. 17/ps on Approving the Regulations on Additional Requirements
for Preparing, Calling, and Conducting the General Meeting of Shareholder con-
tain requirements for the contents of annual reports. The FCSM Code also includes
certain recommendations with this regard.

In accordance with requirements of FCSM Regulation No. 17/ps and the FCSM
Code recommendations, the annual report should contain a statement of the
company’s industry position and business; disclose the company’s sales and finan-
cial performance; report on the payment of dividends; include detailed information
about the company’s securities; list extraordinary transactions and related party
transactions; disclose information about the company’s Supervisory Board and the
executive bodies, as well as information regarding remuneration; and finally, dis-
close information regarding the company’s corporate governance practices, and its
employee, social, and environmental policies.

Part Il. A Model Structure of the Annual Report

1. The Cover Page

The cover page should be attractive, professional, and designed to reflect the prin-
cipal idea and the main focus of the company’s business, and should include, if
applicable, the following:

* The company’s logo or trademark; and
* The company’s slogan or motto.

2. Overview

This section should provide the reader with a brief overview of key events and
issues that have had an impact on the company — both with respect to the past
financial year and in the foreseeable future.
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3. The Address of the Company’s Chairman of the Supervisory Board

The address of the company’s Chairman of the Supervisory Board (commonly
referred to as the Chairman’s report) must be balanced and targeted specifically
at its intended audience. A principal theme or topic should be chosen, and typi-
cally, the following items should be included:

* A general discussion of the company’s financial results and highlights;

* An overview of the company’s share performance and the payment of divi-
dends;

* The company’s principal achievements during the year;

* A brief overview of the general business environment and the company’s
principal markets;

* The company’s business strategy and plan, and product initiatives and in-
novations; and

* Principal changes in the company’s management structure.

4. Information ahout the Company

This section is critical, especially for potential investors. It is necessary to bear in
mind that much of the intended audience does not necessarily possess sufficient
historical or up-to-date information about the company. Accordingly, this section
should provide a sufficiently comprehensive description of the company, and
might include the following main points:

* A brief history of the company, its products or services, and a description of
its governance structure (consider presenting the company’s structure in the
form of a diagram);

* The company’s organisational structure, including any subsidiaries and re-
lated companies;

* An overview of the main events of the year that affected the company’s de-
velopment and success;

* A brief review of the company’s key markets and product groups;

* An overview of its production capacity and output, where applicable;
and

* Any other information, including contact and reference information about
the company, and information about its achievements and policies that might
be deemed interesting or attractive for potential investors.
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9. Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Financial information about the company, including the utilization, sale, and
purchase of assets, is essential for both current shareholders and potential investors
alike. Therefore, in this section entitled Management’s Discussion and Analysis
(MD&A) it is advisable to provide a comprehensive picture of the company’s as-
sets and financial situation, and disclose this information to an even greater degree
than that currently required by law. For example, certain business transactions
between the company and its senior executives or major shareholders should be
disclosed. As another example, it may be desirable to present net profit figures
both as a total net profit, and net profit broken down by products or market
segments. In addition, detailed information regarding changes in asset composi-
tion, an analysis of the company’s liquidity, its profit margin and debt to equity
ratio, and the percentage of export earnings relative to the total earnings of the
company for the year should be included. The sections presenting the financial
results and condition of the company should contain both current and historical
data covering, for example, the preceding three-year period. Since the company’s
executives often have the most complete information about the company’s finan-
cial situation, the annual report should include management’s discussion and
analysis of the results and the factors affecting its financial situation, and the cur-
rent trends that are likely to affect the company’s financial strength in the future.
The following topics should be addressed in detail:

* A review of significant business transactions entered into or contemplated
for the future;

* An analysis of the factors contributing to the discrepancy between planned
and actual results;

* A thorough presentation of the company’s accounting methods and policies,
including the legal basis on which the annual report was prepared, which ac-
counting standards were utilized in preparing financial statements beyond
Russian Accounting Standards (RAS), e.g. International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) or U.S. GAAP, and any deviations from these standards,
methods for asset reporting (for example, depreciation and amortization of
assets), and methods for cost and tax accounting;

 Inflation figures and foreign currency calculations and accounting, if ap-
plicable;

* An analysis of any restructuring of the company and the effects of such re-
structuring;

309

IFC part 6.indd 309 @ 17.09.2004 11:24:41 ‘



®

The Russia Corporate Governance Manual

* A detailed and comprehensive analysis of the company’s financial results,
including, but not limited to, presentation of data on sales, product costs,
operational profits broken down by business units, products or market seg-
ments, a breakdown of operational and non-operational income and ex-
penses, earnings before tax, depriciation, and ammortisaton, net profit,
taxes on profit, and earnings per share;

* A detailed and comprehensive analysis of the company’s financial condition,
including, but not limited to, a presentation of data regarding the company’s
balance sheet, such as information on the composition of current assets in-
cluding inventories, payables and receivables, equity structure, the debt to
equity ratio, details as to current and long-term liabilities and debt repayment,
and changes in the company’s policy regarding asset and debt management;

* The company’s liquidity and sources for additional funding for current and
long-term operations; and

* A detailed description of the company’s risk management system, including a
description of the principal risks associated with the company’s business op-
erations, e.g. market price and interest rate fluctuations, and an overview of the
procedures employed for managing and minimizing such risks, including the
setting aside of additional reserves and the purchase of insurance policies.

6. Market Share, Sales, and Marketing

In general, this section should enable the reader to obtain a comprehensive under-
standing of the company’s sales and marketing position in its principal markets.
Further, this section should provide adequate information about management’s
activities and efforts aimed at strengthening the company’s position. To facilitate
the reader’s understanding, it is especially appropriate and desirable in this section
to utilize tables, graphs, and diagrams to present and illustrate the data, and addi-
tionally, it may prove useful to provide references to the financial statements and
cash flows when explaining how certain events or decisions affected the financial
results of the company. Consider providing a detailed analysis of the following:

» Key market trends, both macro- and micro-economic;

* Summarize the company’s competitive environment and changes in its mar-
ket share;

* Present sales data expressed in unit volumes and in monetary figures, and by
market segments and products as applicable;
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* Present detailed product and price information, including new products, sales,
and pricing policies;

* Provide a summary of the company’s relationship with its principal suppliers;
and

* Summarize management’s efforts to counteract negative developments in the
company’s markets, and efforts aimed at maximizing the company’s com-
petitive advantages.

7. Securities and Equity

This section is primarily addressed to shareholders and potential investors. It
should include information about the company’s ownership structure, and a de-
scription of the main principles of the company’s dividend policy and disclosure
of dividends paid or reasons for non-payment. The aim of this section is to give
shareholders and potential investors a thorough understanding of the current
value of the company’s shares, existing stock market trends, and associated risks.
Characteristically, this section utilizes an abundance of charts and graphs to pres-
ent the data. It is important as well to note that, in accordance with Russian law,
the company must disclose information on shareholders who own 20% or more
of the company’s shares. However, this is insufficient information for understand-
ing the true ownership structure of the company. Therefore, it is also recom-
mended that information on shareholders who own as little as 5% or more of the
company’s shares be disclosed. While disclosing this information, the company
should also disclose any information in its possession about indirect ownership of
the company’s shares. The following issues should be covered:

* Information regarding the issuance of company securities and its capital share
structure, including information on the number of outstanding shares, a list
of major shareholders, and any share buyback plans or other acquisitions and
divestitures implemented by the company;

* Any steps undertaken by management to raise the market capitalization of
the company;

* Current and historical trading data for the company’s shares, including
maximum and minimum prices and volume of shares traded over a specified
period; and

* A description of the company’s dividend policy and payments of divi-

dends.
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8. Corporate Governance Structures and Principles

In general, shareholder protection mechanisms, good board practicies, disclosure
and greater transparency, as well as the establishment of adequate risk management
and internal control mechanisms, lead to more than just an increased flow and
volume of investment capital — they should also lead to increasing operational
and managerial efficiency, increasing growth and profits, and enhancing reputa-
tion. For these reasons, it is imperative that the annual report include a section
on the company’s corporate governance policies and procedures.

In addition to providing a diagram of the company’s governance structure, the
annual report should contain the company’s statement of firm and continuing com-
mitment to corporate governance principles and practices. Further, it is worthwhile to
consider providing a list of corporate governance principles that the company has ad-
opted and adheres to, and provide a detailed accounting of the company’s efforts and
successes in satisfying such principles during the reporting period. While no list can be
considered completely exhaustive, the following items regarding the corporate gover-
nance policies and practices should be considered for inclusion in the annual report:

* The company’s statement of firm commitment to the most progressive prin-
ciples and practices of corporate governance;

* A statement of compliance with the principles of the FCSM Code and regula-
tions;?'®

* Details regarding the composition of the Supervisory Board, including back-
ground information for each member, and a statement as to which directors
are independent;

* A statement regarding the company’s remuneration policy, and the details of
the individual remuneration of Supervisory Board members and senior ex-
ecutives during the reporting period;

* A statement regarding the existence and competencies of any Supervisory
Board committees, and details of their relationship and interaction with the
company’s Supervisory Board;

* Adisclosure of the company’s risk management and internal control systems,
and a statement of compliance therewith;

* A detailed disclosure of all material related or interested party transactions
entered into or that were being considered during the reporting period;

* A disclosure regarding the existence and role of the Audit Committee or Revi-
sion Commission in ensuring transparency and full information disclosure;

216 For an example of a detailed statement of compliance, see the IFC Russia Corporate Governance
Project’s website under www.ifc.org/rcgp.
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* A disclosure of the process for evaluating the performance of the company’s
Supervisory Board and executive bodies, including information regarding
any performance evaluations conducted during the reporting period; and

* A statement regarding the adoption of a code of ethics and adherence thereto.

9. Environmental, Social, and Economic Sustainability

The establishment and implementation of an environmental policy is one area in
which, regardless of the existence or absence of mandatory disclosures and prac-
tices, the companies themselves should be proactive, and voluntarily develop and
disclose their policies, projects, and related expenses. As to personnel, labor, and
social policies, the annual report should consider including a discussion of the
following topics:

* The main areas in which the company has concentrated its efforts, especially
in terms of its environmental policy, and its principal achievements;
* The social expenses incurred by the company and contributions to any

charities;

* The number of employees and current changes being experienced or imple-
mented;

» Its primary goals and important steps taken in terms of personnel develop-
ment; and

*  Wages and growth rate for wages.

10. The Revision Commission’s Conclusions and Report

Pursuant to Russian law, the Revision Commission’s report regarding the results
of its inspection of the business and financial performance of the company must
contain a verification regarding the accuracy of the data contained in the annual
report and financial statements of the company. While the Revision Commission
typically conducts an annual audit and inspection of the previous year’s results,
Russian law also provides certain circumstances and procedures for conducting
extraordinary audits at different times during the year.

The scope of duties and responsibilities of the Revision Commission include
the following:

* Aninspection of the financial documents and reports, and an analysis of the
accuracy and completeness of the company’s accounting, tax and statistical
reporting;
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* An analysis of the company’s financial condition, specifically, its solvency,
asset liquidity, debt to equity ratio, net assets, and charter capital;

* Developing recommendations for management;

* Conducting an inspection of the timeliness and correctness of payments; and

* Verifying the reliability of data included in the annual reports of the com-
pany and the annual financial statements.

11. The External Auditor’s Opinion

It is important to note that the company must under legally defined circum-
stances employ the services of an independent External Auditor whose opinion
would be included as a separate section of the company’s annual report. The
focus of the External Auditor’s opinion is on whether or not the financial state-
ments of the company are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with
an identified financial reporting framework, and whether they can be relied upon.
It gives shareholders, managers, employees, and market participants an independent
opinion about the company’s financial position and, if performed properly, should
attest to the accuracy of the statements. An independent external audit con-
ducted by a publicly recognized accounting firm normally enhances the company’s
credibility and prospects for attracting investment.

12. Financial Statements, Notes, and Comments

The financial statements are to present a true and fair view of the company’s
financial position to enable shareholders and other market participants to gauge
the company’s performance and assess the stewardship of the executive bodies.
Any comments and presentation of financial statements should contain an expla-
nation of the principles used in preparing those financial statements, and their
effect on the key performance indicators of the company. The company should
disclose and provide detailed comments regarding the following:

* The balance sheet;

* The profit and loss statement;

» The statement of changes in owners’ equity
» Its cash flow statement

* The notes to the financial statements; and

» Explanations to financial statements.
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Annex 30

GLOSSARY OF ENGLISH
AND RUSSIAN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE TERMINOLOGY

English

Pycckmit

Accountability: The liability of manage-
ment and the Supervisory Board to Share-
holders and other stakeholders for corpo-
rate performance and the actions of the
company.

Administrative Authorities: Governmen-
tal authorities.
In the context of this Manual: Regulators.

ADR (American Depository Receipts):
Certificates that are traded in the U.S.
representing shares of corporations listed
outside of the U.S. market.

Affiliated Person: An individual or a legal
entity that can influence the activity of
legal entities, and/or individuals who are
engaged in entrepreneurial activity.

See more detailed definition in Chapter
12, Section B.

Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
(AGM): An AGM shall be held two not
earlier two months and not later than six
months after the end of each reporting
year, at which shareholders, directors and
managers discuss the company’s results
and future.

Synonyms: General Meeting or Annual
Meeting.

See related: Extraordinary Meeting.

ITomOTYeTHOCTB: OTBETCTBEHHOCTh PYKO-
BOACTBA U cobema dupexmopob niepen ax-
Y UOHepamMU 1 IPYTUMHU 3aUHTEPECOBaHHbI-
MU JIMIIAMU 33 IeUCTBUS U Pe3yJbTaThl
paboTsl ob1ecTsa.

TocygapcTBeHHbIE OPTaHbL: B KOHTEKCTE
Hacrosimero ITocobuss — opraHsl rocy-
[apCTBEHHOTO YIIPaBJIEHU.

AJIP (amepuKaHCKas IeO3UTAPHAS pac-
MHCKA): cepTU(UKATHI aKIIHil KOMITaHUI,
3aperuCTpPUPOBAHHBIX HAa MHOCTPAHHBIX
6upskax. AMepUKaHCKUE JIeIO3UTAPHbIE
pacIucku 06paraoTcs Ha (POHIOBOM PhIH-
ke CIIA.

AdPumposannoe muiro: rsmrdeckoe win
IOPUIIYECKOe JIUI0, KOTOPOE MOYKET OB~
JIASATH HA JIESTeTbHOCTD IOPUINIECKUX JIUIL
v (nn) PU3MIECKUX JINLT, 3aHIMATOIITIXCST
MIPeIPUHIMATEECKOMN IeSITeIhHOCTHIO.
CwM. 60:1ee TOIPOOGHOE OIpeeIeHre B pa3-
meie B riaBer 12.

TogoBoe 0o61i1ee cob6paHHe aKIIMOHEPOB:
ob1ree cobpaHne aKIMOHEPOB, KOTOPOe
IIPOBOJUTCS He paHee 4eM depesd 2 MecsIa
U He HO3/IHee 9eM depe3 6 MeCsIeB Iocie
OKOHYAHUSI KOJKIOTO OTIETHOTO TOfa U Ha
KOTOPOM aK110Hepbl X PYKOBOICTBO 00-
CYXKIAIOT pe3yibTaThl U Oymyluee oOrie-
CTBa.

CHHOHUMBL: 001lee cOOpaHUe U TOIOBOE
cobpanue. Cm. Taxke: 6rneouepedroe co0-
panue.
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English

Pyccxmit

10.

11.

12.

Annual Report: A document that must be
provided to a company’s shareholders and
other interested parties for the AGM. It
usually includes full set of financial state-
ments, including notes, the report of the
External Auditor and Revision Commis-
sion, management’s discussion of results,
as well as commentary on corporate gov-
ernance and the outlook of the compa-

ny.

Anti-takeover Defense: A device design-
ed to prevent a takeover of the com-

pany.

Arbitration: A dispute settlement process
that occurs outside the court system. This
should be distinguished from state arbitra-
tion (commercial) courts.

Audit Committee: A committee of the
Supervisory Board that oversees the com-
pany’s financial reporting, risk manage-
ment, and internal control processes.

Audit: An examination and verification
of a company’s financial and accounting
records and supporting documents by a
professional and independent External
Auditor.

Audited Financial Statements: A compa-
ny’s financial statements that have been
prepared and certified by an independent
External Auditor.

See related: Auditor and Auditor’s Re-
port.

Auditor: A person certified at the govern-
ment level to conduct an audit.
Synonym: External Auditor

TomoBoii oTyer: TOKYMEHT, KOTOPBIA [OJI-
JKeH OBITh IIPefOCTaBIIeH akyuoHepam 06-
I1eCTBA ¥ MHBIM 3aNHTEPECOBAHHBIM JIUIAM
IIpU IPOBENEHUN TOIOBOTO 00IIIero cobpa-
HUS aKIuoHepoB. Kak mpaBmiio, OH BKIIIO-
qaeT OaJIaHC, OTYET O MPUOBLISIX U YOBbITKAX,
mpuMedaHus K (PUHAHCOBON OTYETHOCTH,
3aKJII0YEHNUE ayJTUTOPA M PeBU3NOHHOMN KO-
MUCCHH, U3JIO’KeHIE MHEHHUS PYKOBOJCTBA
110 TIOBOJIY PEe3YJIbTATOB IESITEIBHOCTH 00-
II[eCTBA, @ TAK)Ke KOMMEHTAPHII 10 BOIIPO-
caM KOPIIOPAaTHBHOTO YIIPABJICHUs U IIep-
CIIEKTHUBAM pPasBUTHS O0IIIeCTBa.

3ammTa oT MOTIONIEHHIL: MEXaHU3M, IIPU-
3BaHHBIU NPEJOTBPATUTh IOIJIOLICHUE
KOMIIAaHHU.

TpeTeiickoe MPOM3BOICTBO: IIPOIIECC BHE-
CyIeOHOro yperynupoBaHus criopos. Ciie-
LyeT OTIMYaTh OT TOCYIAPCTBEHHOTO ap-
6UTPa’KHOrO Cyna.

Komurer o aygury: Komurer cobema ou-
pexmopoB, OTBEJAIOIIII 3a KOHTPOIb 3a
(pUHAHCOBOI OTYETHOCTHIO, yIIPABICHUEM
PHCKaMU U TIPOIECCAMU BHY TPEHHETO KOH-
TPOJIST B OOIIIeCTBe.

Aynuropckasi mpoBepKa: H3ydeHue U Ipo-
BepKa JIOKyMEHTOB (pMHAHCOBOTO U OyX-
TJITEPCKOTO ydueTa obIecTBa mpodeccu-
OHWIBHBIM M HE3aBUCUMBIM ayoumopom
obujecméa.

IIpoBepennas ayguropoMm (puHaHCOBas
OTYETHOCTH: GUHAHCOBASI OTIETHOCTH 00-
I1eCTBA, MOATBEPIKICHHAS He3aBUCHMBIM
aydumopom obusecmba.

CM. Taroke: ayoumop M 3aknioueHue ay-
dumopa.

Aymurop: nuno, obiragamolee rocynapc-
TBEHHOM JIMII€H3MEN Ha IIPaBO IpOBele-
HUS ayIouTa.
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English
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13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

Auditor’s Report: An auditor’s opinion
on the accuracy of the company’s finan-
cial statements commonly included in the
annual report.

Authorized Shares: Maximum number of
shares of any class a company may issue
in addition to issued and outstanding
shares

Ballot: Any printed or written document
used in voting during the GMS.

Bankrupt: A person, firm, or company
that has been declared insolvent through
a court proceeding.

Bankruptcy: A proceeding in a state court
in which an insolvent debtor’s assets are
liquidated and the debtor is relieved of
further liability.

See related: Liquidation.

Bearer Form: A security in bearer form is
not registered on the books of the issuing
company. Bearer securities are payable to
the one who physically holds them.

See related: Registered Security.

Beneficial Owner: The individual who
enjoys the benefits of owning a security
or property, regardless of whose name the
title of the security or property is.

Beneficiary: An individual or legal entity
that receives, or may become eligible to
receive, benefits under a will, insurance
policy, retirement plan, annuity, trust, or
other contract.

3akaroyeHHe aygUTOpa: OTYeT ay[uTopa
0 10CcTOBepHOCTH (DUHAHCOBOI OTIETHOC-
TH 06II1eCTBa, KaK MPAaBUJIO, BKIIOYaeMOe
B TOJIOBOI OTHYeT.

OO0'bpABIEHHBIE AKIIMH: MaKCUMaJIbLHOE KO-
JIMYeCTBO KLU 0601 KaTeropHuu, KOTO-
poe 00IIecTBO MOYKeT BBIIYCTUTH B JIO-
TIOJTHEHNE K BBIITYIIEHHBIM aKIUAM.

BrosuteTeHb: TOKYMEHT, MCIIOIb3YeMBIil
IUISI TOJIOCOBAHUSI BO BpeMsi 0011ero co6-
paHUsT aKIIUOHEPOB.

BaHKkpoT: pusmieckoe U IPUITIECKOE I~
110, KOTOpOe OBbLIO NPU3HAHO GAHKPOTOM
110 pelIeHuIo Cy/a.

BanxpoTtcTBO: cyne6Has porenypa, B Xo-
Jile KOTOPOIT aKTUBBI HEIUIATEKECIIOCOOHO-
TO JIOJDKHMKA JINKBUIUPYIOTCS, a TOJDKHUK
0CBOOOJKIAeTCsI OT JajbHENIIEel OTBEeTC-
TBEHHOCTU.

CMm. Taxke: aukbudayust.

Ilennas 6yMara Ha IpexbABUTELA: 1ICH-
Hble GyMaru Ha IIPeIbSIBUTENS He Peruc-
TPUPYIOTCSI B YIETHBIX JOKYMEHTAX MU~
TeHTa. JloX0n mo TakuM OymaraM BBIILIA-
YUBAETCSI UX (PAKTHIECKOMY JEePIKATeIII0
CM. TaKoKe: UMEHHAS UeHHAsr Oymaza.

PeasibHbIiT COOCTBEHHHK: JIMIIO, ITOJyYa-
I0II[ee BBITOY OT BJIA[CHHSI IIeHHOM OyMa-
TOH YUIN MMYIIECTBOM, BHE 3aBUCHMOCTHU
OT TOTO, Ha Ybe UM 3apeTUCTPUPOBAHBI
TaKue IeHHast OymMara Wil MMYIIECTBO.

Brirogonpuobperarens (6eHedumapmit):
(usnyeckoe WK IOPUINYECKOE JIUIIO, KO-
TOpOe IOoJrydaerT 60 MOXKET IIOJNYIUTh
[IPaBO HA MOJydYeHWEe BBITOM IO 3aBela-
HUIO, CTPAXOBOMY IIOJIUCY, TIEHCHOHHOMY
IUIaHy, JOTOBOPY PEHTHI, JOTOBOPY AOBe-
PUTETHHOTO YIPABJIEHUS UMYIIECTBOM
(mOroBOpy TpacTa) WM MHOMY IOTOBOPY.
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21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

Benefits: A payment or entitlement, such
as one made under an employment or
service agreement, such as health insur-
ance, vacation, a company car, a phone
allowance, etc.

Best practice: The best procedures that
can be observed in multinational and na-
tional companies for which other compa-
nies should aim.

Board Member: An individual elected by
shareholders to provide strategic guidance
and oversee management on their behalf.
Also called: Supervisory Board Member
and Director.

Board of Directors: A governance body
of the company that is responsible for
providing strategic guidance and oversee-
ing the management on behalf of share-
holders. The Board of Directors in a uni-
tary board system corresponds to a Super-
visory Board in a two-tiered board system.
See related: Supervisory Board.

Bond: A debt corporate security that
obligates the issuer to pay the holder a
specified sum of money, usually at spe-
cific intervals, and to repay the principal
amount at maturity. Bondholders have
no corporate ownership and governance
rights as shareholders do.

Synonym: Debenture.

IToco6ust: BHIIIATHI WJIM [IPABO Ha ITOJIY-
YeHe JOMOJHUTENBHBIX GJIar 1Mo Tpymo-
BOMY HJIH TPKIAHCKO-TIPABOBOMY [IOTO-
BOPY, TAKUX KaK MEIUI[MHCKOE CTPaXxOBa-
HUe, OIIAYeHHBII OTIYCK, CIIY>KeOHBII
aBTOMOOMIID, O1IaTa TeseOHHBIX Pasro-
BOPOB U T.[I.

Haprexxanras npaKkTika: HawIydIas pak-
THKa, KOTOpas IpHUMeHseMas MeXIyHa-
PONHBIMU 1 HAIIMOHAIBHBIMU KOMITAHU S
MH U K CJI€[OBAaHUIO KOTOPOU [OJKHBI
CTPEMUTBCS OCTaJIbHbIE KOMIIAHUN.

Y1eH coBeTa JUPEKTOPOB: JINI[O, U36paH-
HOe aKIMOHepaMH ISl OCYIL[eCTBIICHUS
CTPATernyeckoro PyKoBOACTBA U KOHTPO-
JSI 32 JIeATENBHOCTHIO UCIIOMHUATEIbHBIX
OPraHOB OT MMEHH aKI[OHEPOB.
CHMHOHMMBL: YIeH HaGII0aTeIbHOTO CO-
BeTa U dupexmop.

CoBeT TMpPeKTOpOB: OpTaH YIpaBIeHUs
0611ecTBa, OTBEYAKOMIHUIT 3a CTpaTeru-
YecKoe PYKOBOICTBO M KOHTPOJb 3a Jie-
ATEJIbHOCTBIO UCIIOJIHUTEJIBbHBIX OpI‘aHOB
OT MMeHHU akKiuoHepoB. COBeT IUPEKTO-
POB B OIHOYPOBHEBOW CHCTEME COOTBET-
CTByeT Ha6J'IIOIIaTeHbHOMy COBeTy B HBYX-
YPOBHEBOI CHCTeMe yIIpaByieHHs 001e-
CTBOM.

CM TaKke: Habato0amenvuwlii cobem.

O6auranus: 10IroBas KOPIOpaTHBHAS
neHHas Oymara, O KOTOPO¥W 9MHTEHT
00513yeTCsl BBIIIIAYUBATE €€ [JepPKaTeio
OIIpefie/IeHHbIE CYMMBI, KaK MPaBHIIO, C
(UKCHPOBAHHON MEPUONUIHOCTHIO, U
[IOTaCUTh OCHOBHOM [OJIT IIO HACTYILIe-
HUU CpoKa IutaTexa. Hdepikatenu o6iu-
ranuii, B OTIMYUE OT AKIMOHEPOB, He
obamaroT mpaBamMu COOCTBEHHOCTH U
[IpaBOM Ha ydJacCTHe B yIpPaBIeHHH 00-
[1eCTBOM.
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26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

Book Value: Value of a company or an
asset according to accounting records. The
book value does not always bear a relation
to the fair market value of an asset or a
company.

By-Laws: The internal rules and regula-
tions that govern a company’s structures,
policies, and procedures.

Synonym: Internal corporate documents.

Capital Gains: An increase in the market
price of an asset (e.g. shares).

Capital Surplus: 1. A part of the compa-
ny’s equity which typically results from
funds accumulated from any re-valuation
of non-current assets and the positive
difference between the nominal value and
the issuing value of the company’s shares.
2. Common umbrella term for more spe-
cific classifications such as acquired sur-
plus, additional paid-in capital, donated
surplus, and re-evaluation surplus (arising
from appraisals).

Synonyms: Paid-In Surplus; Surplus, Ad-
ditional Paid-in Capital.

Capacity: Legal qualification, generally in
terms of age, residence, and character
necessary for certain purposes, such as for
holding office, for marrying, making con-
tracts. Sometimes translated from the
Russian as dispositive capacity.
Synonym: Competency.

See: Dispositive Capacity.

Charter: A document that establishes a
company.

BbanancoBast CTOMMOCTb: CTONMOCTD KOM-
MAaHUM WX KAaKOro-imbo akTHBa, OTpa-
JKEHHAast B IOKyMEHTax OyXrajarepcKkoro
ydera. bamancoBast crouMocTh He Bcerga
COOTBETCTBYET PbiHOUHOL CHIOUMOCHIU AK-
THUBA WJINW KOMIIaHHU.

ITono)xeHue: BHyTpeHHNE IIPaBHJIA U 110~
JIO’KEHUSI, PETYJIUPYIOLIe CTPYKTYPBI, 110~
JIUTHKY U IIPOLEAYpbI 00IIecTBa.
CuHoHuM: BHympennue dokymenmol 00-
wecméa.

ITpupocr KanuTaza: yBeIuIeHue PhIHOT-
HOJI [IeHBI aKTUBa (HAIpUMep, aKIIHii).

M06aBOYHBIN KaUTaX: 1) 9acTh aKIUO-
HEPHOTO KamuTasa oO0IecTBa, KoTopas,
Kak IIpaBUJIO, 06pa3yeTc;1 3a CYET CPEJCTB,
HAKOIUIEHHBIX B pe3yJIbTaTe IE€PEOLeHKU
BHEOOOPOTHBIX aKTUBOB, U IOJOKUTENIb-
HOY PasHUIBI MEXIY HOMUHAJIbHOM CTO-
UMOCTBIO ¥ CTOMMOCTBIO Pa3MeIleHUs aK-
nui o6IrecTsa; 2) OOLIUI TEPMUH s
00603HaYeHNs TAKUX TOHATHI, KaK HpI/IO6-
PEeTeHHbII TOIIOIHUTEIbHBIA KaIuTall, 10~
TIOJTHUTEIbHBIN OIUIAY€HHBIN KAaIlUTAJI, Ka-
nUTaj, MepefaHHbIi Ha 6e3BO3ME3IHOM
OCHOBe, U N00aBOYHBINA KaIllUTal, OJIy-
9YEeHHBIN B Pe3yabTaTe MepPEOIeHKH.

JleecrocoOHOCTh: CIIOCOOHOCTD Tpaskia-
HUHA CBOMMHM [ENCTBUSMHU IIPHOOpeTaTh
7 OCYILIeCTBIISITh TPOKAAHCKHE IIPaBa, CO-
3maBaTh IS Ce0sl TPaKIAHCKIE 00sI3aH-
HOCTU U UCIIOJHATH UX.

YcraB: yupenuTeIbHbII JOKYMEHT 00IIe-
CTBa.
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32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

Closed Joint Stock Company: A joint
stock company the shares of which have
limited transferability.

Synonym: Closely Held or Private Com-

pany.

Common Share: The type of shares that
grants to their owners certain voting and
property rights.

Synonyms: Ordinary Share or Ordinary
Stock.

Company (Joint Stock Company): A le-
gal entity the charter capital of which
is divided into a defined number of
shares.

Synonyms: Corporation, Joint Stock Com-

pany.

Compensation: Reimbursement for ex-
penses incurred while fulfilling official
duties. In the context of this Manual, the
term Compensation is used for the mem-
bers of the Revision Commission. Dif-
ferent from remuneration, which includes
wages, bonuses, perks, and other bene-
fits.

Conflict of Interests: A situation that
occurs when a person in a position of trust
needs to exercise judgment on behalf of
others but also has interests that might
compromise the exercise his judgment. In
such a situation, the person is generally
required to abstain from making any judg-
ments.

Consolidation (in reorganization): The
combination of separate companies into
a single one whereby consolidating com-
panies terminate and their assets and li-
abilities transfer to the new company.

3akpbiTOe aKLHOHEPHOe 06IIeCTBO: 06-
IL[ECTBO, aKI[UU KOTOPOTO PaCIIpeesIsIoT-
Cs1 Cpefiu yupe/IUTesIell HIIM NHOTO 3apaHee
OIIpeJIeJICHHOTO KpyTa JIUII.

OOBIKHOBEHHAsI aKIMs: aKI[UsI, IIPemo-
CTaBJIAONIAS ee JIep>KaTeNlI0 OIpefeseH-
HbIe IMYIIleCTBeHHBIE ITpaBa U IIPaBO TO-
JIoca.

OO6111eCTBO (AKIMOHEPHOE OOIIIECTBO): FOPH-
IMYeCcKoe JIUIO, YCTABHBINM KAIIHTAI KOTO-
pOro pasjiesieH Ha OIIpefesIeHHOe YUCIIO0
AKITANA.

CHHOHMM: KOMIIaHH, KOPIIOPAIUsl.

KommneHcanusa: Bo3MelleHNEe PacxomoB,
ITIOHECEHHBIX B XOJI€ BHIIIOJTHEHUSI CITyKe6-
HBIX 00s13aHHOCTeN. B KOHTeKcTe HACTOSI-
1ero IToco6ust HCIOMB3YeTCsT B OTHOLLIE-
HUU WICHOB pebusuonHoii komuccuu. B ot-
JIM4Me OT BO3HATPAKIEeHUs He BKII0OYaeT
OILTIaTy TPYZA, IPEMUH, TIOOIIPEHNS 1 UHbIe
BBIIUIATHI.

KondaukT HHTEpeCcoB: CUTYAI[Ns], BO3HU-
Kalolllasi, KOIfa JIUIY, HalleJ€HHOMY JIO-
BepueM, HeOOXOIMMO BBIHECTH CY)KICHHUE
OT UMEHHU JPYIHX JIUI, HO IIPM 3TOM OH
HMMeET 3aUHTEPECOBAHHOCTD, KOTOPasi MO-
JKET NPENSATCTBOBATL BHIHECEHUIO TAKOTO
CyXpeHMs. B nmpunnmne B nmogoOHOM cu-
Tyallu¥ 3aMHTE€PECOBAHHOE JIMIO NOJLKHO
BOBMIEP)KUBATHCSI OT KaKUX-JIMOO CyxKpie-
HUA.

CrusHue: o0befuHEHNE HECKOIBKUX 00-
11ecTB B 0HO. [Tpu 9TOM 06beIUHSIOMIN-
ecst 0011IeCTBA IIPEKPAIIIAIOT CBOIO JIeSITeIIb-
HOCTb, @ UX aKTUBBI M 00s13aTe/IbCTBA IIe-
PEXoIAT K HOBOMY OOIIECTBY.
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38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

43.

44.

Consolidation of Shares: The process of
converting two or several shares of the
same type and class into one share of the
same type and class.

Synonym: Reverse Split.

Antonym: Split.

Control and Revision Service: An internal
company department that is responsible
for carrying out internal control on a
daily basis as recommended by the Code
of Corporate Conduct of the Federal Com-
mission for the Securities Market (the
FCSM Code).

See: Internal Audit.

Control Transaction: A transaction in
which the control of the corporation is
established or changes hands.

Controlling Shareholder: A shareholder
who personally or with affiliated parties
effectively controls decision-making in the
company

Convertible Security: A bond or preferred
share that is exchangeable at the option
of the holder for common share (or pre-
ferred share of another class) of the issu-
ing company.

Corporate Governance: The structures
and processes for the direction and control
of companies.

See: Part I, Chapter 1 for other defini-
tions.

Counting Commission: A body or a per-
son that counts and verifies the votes cast
at a GMS.

Synonyms: Tabulation Commission.

KoHcommmanys akuuit: mpoiecc KOHBep-
Taluy 2 WIU HECKOJBbKUX aKIUH OIHOMI
Kareropuu (tuma) B 1 aKkIuio TOM e Ka-
teropuu (TUMA).

AHTOHMM: dpoOneHue axyuil.

KoHTpo/IbHO-peBH3HOHHAsI CITyXK06a: BHYT-
peHHee IMonpasiesieHne OOIIeCTBa, OTBe-
JarolIiee 3a OCYII[ECTBIICHUE TEKYIIIEro BHYT-
PEHHEr0 KOHTPOJISI B COOTBETCTBHUH C pe-
rkoMmenmanuamu Komexca OKIIb.

CwMm. uympennuii ayoum.

Cpenxa 1o mpuoGpeTeHNI0 KOHTPOJISL: e~
Ka, B pe3ylIbTaTe KOTOPOW KOHTPOJb Haf
00IIIeCTBOM yCTAaHABINBAETCS THO0 Iepe-
XOIUT K IPYTOMY JIUITY.

KoHTpoaupyromuii akiuoHep: axiuoHep,
KOTOPBI caM 60 coBMecTHO ¢ apdu-
JIMPOBAaHHBIMH JTHUIAMU (PAKTHIECKH KOH-
TPOJIUPYET MPOLIECC IPUHSTHS PelieHni
B o011ecTBe.

KouBepTupyemas nennas 6ymara: 0671~
ranys WIM NPUBUJICTHPOBAHHAS AKI[WS,
KOTOpast MOXKeT OBITh OOMEHEeHa II0 yC-
MOTPEHHIO ee IepsKaTelisi Ha OOBIKHOBEH-
HY[0 aknuio (Jin60 Ha IIPUBIJIETHPOBAH-
HYIO aKIIMIO JPYrOro THIIA) SMHUTEHTA.

KopmnopaTiBHoOe yrpaBiieHue: CTPYKTYpPBI
W IPOLeyphl YIIPABJICHNAA U KOHTPOJIA B
o011ecTBe.
CM. TakKe OIpeieIeHus], IPUBEIeHHbIE
B ri1aBe 1.

CueTHast KOMMCCH: OPTaH WIH JIALIO, OCY-
LIIeCTBILIOLIee OACIET U IPOBEPKY rOJI0-
COB, IOJAHHBIX HA OOIIeM COOpAaHHM aK-
LIIOHEPOB
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45.

46.

47.

48.

49.

50.

51.

Cumulative Voting: A method of voting
when each shareholder entitled to vote at
an election of directors has the right to
cast a number of votes equal to the num-
ber of voting shares held by the share-
holder multiplied by the number of direc-
tors to be elected, and the shareholder may
cast all such votes in favor of one candi-
date or distribute them among the candi-
dates in any manner.

See related: Standard Voting.

Damages: The expenses that a person,
whose right is infringed, bear or shall bear
in order to restore the infringed right, as
well as a loss or harm to his property.

Debtor: The entity that is liable for debts.
Synonym: Borrower.

Dilution (of Ownership): A reduction in
the existing Shareholder’s ownership of
the company (in terms of the percentage
of the company shares owned) resulting
from the issue of additional shares or the
exercise of convertible securities and/or
options.

Director:
See Board Member.

Disclosure: The release of relevant infor-
mation to the public.
Synonym: Information Disclosure.

Divestiture: The disposition or sale of an
asset by a company. A company will
often divest an asset that is not perform-
ing well, is not part of the company’s core
business, or that may be worth more as a
separate entity than as part of the com-

pany.

KymynsaTuBHOE roJI0cCOBaHHE: METO]I FOJIO-
COBAHUsI, IPU KOTOPOM KaXKIBIIL aK1LOHED,
MMEIOIIHIT TPABO HA y9aCTHe B TOJIOCOBA-
HUH 110 BOIIpoCy 06 usbpanuu 4neHob cobe-
ma dupexmopol, uMeeT IPaBo OTAATH YUCIIO
TOJIOCOB, PABHOE KOJIMYECTBY IIPAHA/IEKA-
IIIUX eMy FOJIOCYIOIINX aKI[Uil, YMHOXKEH-
HO€ Ha YHCJI0 N30MPAEMbIX WICHOB COBETa
IUPEKTOPOB, IPU ITOM AKIIMOHEP MOXKET
OT/IaTh BCE CBOM T'OJIOCA B MOJIB3Y OHOTO
KaHuIaTa 160 JIF00bIM 006pa3oM pacipe-
[IeUTD UX MKy KaHIUIATaMI.

CMm. TaxKe: cmandapmuoe zonocobanue.

Y1iep6: pacxozipl, KOTOpPbIE JIUIIO, Ybe TIpa-
BO HAapYIIEHO, IIPOU3BEJIO WIH IOJLKHO
6yneT MpOM3BECTH MJIsi BOCCTAHOBJICHUS
HapyIIeHHOTO IPaBa, yTpaTa WK IOBPeX-
IeHHe UMYIIEeCTBa TaKOTo JIMIA.

JODKHUK: JIUII0, Hecyliee 0053aTeIbCTBa
110 IOJITaM.
CHHOHUM: 3aeMUjUK.

PasmbiBaHMe COOCTBEHHOCTH: yMeHbIIIE-
HUE [OJIM CYLIECTBYIOLIUX aKIIUOHEPOB B
KanuTase oOrnectsa (oI MpUHAIIEKA-
[UX UM aKI[U¥) B Pe3yJbTaTe TOIOIHU-
TEJILHOTO BBIITYCKA aKIUIl WM OCYIIECT-
BJIEHMS TIPaBa HA KOHBEPTAIUIO IEHHBIX
6ymar u (WIn) peasusaliysi ONIIUOHOB.

JupexTop:
CM.: unen coBema dupexmopob.

Packpeitie uHdopManmun: ory6InKoBa-
HHe COOTBETCTBYIOLIel NHGOPMAIUHL.

OtnesteHue: 0611IeCTBO HEPEIKO BBIIEIISIET
HeaddexTUBHO paboTaOIINe AKTUBBI, aK-
THUBBI, KOTOPbIe HEe CBSI3aHBI C €0 OCHOB-
HOM JIeTeIbHOCTBIO, U AKTHBBI, CTOUMOCTD
KOTOPBIX B PaMKaxX OTHEIBHOTO IOPHUIN-
YECKOTO JIMIIa MOXKET 6bITb BBIIIIEC UX CTO-
HMMOCTH B COCTaBe aKTHBOB OOILECTBA.
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52.

53.

54.

55.

56.

57.

58.

59.

Divided Balance Sheet: A document drawn
up in case of a company divestiture and
split-up, by which assets and liabilities of
reorganizing company(ies) are transferred
to the new entity(ies).

Dividend: A portion of the net profits of
the company distributed to the sharehold-
ers of a company.

Dividends Payable: The amount of divi-
dends to be paid as reported in the finan-
cial statements.

Equity: An ownership interest in a com-
pany.

Ex-Dividend: The time period between
the declaration of a dividend and the pay-
ment of the dividend. Shares bought
during this period are not entitled to div-
idend payments.

Executive Board: A collective executive
body of the company responsible for the
day-to-day management. The Executive
Board reports and is accountable to the
Supervisory Board.

Synonyms: Directorate, Management
Board, or Managerial Board.

Executive Body: For the purposes of this
Manual, the governing bodies of a com-
pany are divided into oversight bodies and
Executive Bodies. The Executive Bodies
include the General Director and the Ex-
ecutive Board.

See: Oversight Bodies.

Executive Director: A member of a com-
pany’s Supervisory Board who is also an
employee of the company.

PaspenurenpHbIi 6amaHC: TOKYMEHT, KO-
TOPBIIL COCTABIISAETCS B CITyIae BbIIETIEHUS
WM pasjiesieHust 00IecTBa U 110 KOTOPO-
MY aKTHBBI 1 00513aTeJIbCTBA PEOPTaHU3Y -
emoro obmrecTBa (0OIIECTB) MepesaTcs
Ha BHOBb CO3[]JaBa€MBIM OOIIECTBAM.

JuBUaeHA: 9acTh YUCTON HPUOBUTH 06-
[eCTBA, pacupeessieMast MexXIy akyuo-
Hepamil.

OO6'bsBIIEHHBII TUBUAECHI: CYMMa [IUBU-
IeH/I0B, OOBSIBIICHHAS K BBIIJIATE 10 JaH-
HBIM (PHHAHCOBOU OTYETHOCTH.

Alcuuonepm,n“{ KaIuTax: COOCTBEHHBIN
KanuTaa obIecTsa.

«be3 TUBHIEHIOB»: IIEPUOL MEKAY 00b-
SIBJIEHEM W BBIIJIATOM AUBUIEHIOB. AK-
nuu, IpuOOpeTeHHbIE B TeYeHIE 3TOrO
Iepuosia, He MAIOT IIpaBa Ha IOJTydYeHHe
IUBUIEH/IOB.

IIpaBienne: KojlernanabHbIA MCIIOTHA-
TeJIbHBINA OPTaH, OTBEYAIOIINI 32 TEKYyIIiee
PYKOBOICTBO MIeATeIbHOCTBIO OOIIeCTBa.
ITpaByieHue TOTOTIETHO coBenty Oupexo-
po8.

CHHOHUM: TUPEKITHI.

VcrioytHUTEBHBII OPraH: B KOHTEKCTE Ha-
crositero IToco6ust OpraHel yrpaBiieHUst
obuiecTBa HenaTcsa Ha HabntodamenvHole
0p2aHbl I ACTIOMHUTENbHBIe opraHsbl. K mc-
[TOJIHUTEIbHBIM OPTaHAM OTHOCSTCS 2eHe-
panviviil dupekmop u npabuenue.

Cm.: HabmodamenvHvle opzanuvl.

VIcrostHUTEIbHBINA JUPEKTOP: 1WieH cole-
ma dupexmopoB o6111eCTBa, SIBIISIIOLIMICS
paboTHHKOM OO6IIIeCTBa.

IFC_part_6.indd 323

323

17.09.2004 11:24:44 ‘



®

The Russia Corporate Governance Manual

No

English

Pyccxmit

60.

61.

62.

63.

64.

65.

66.

External Auditor: The auditor responsible
for conducting the audit of the financial
statements of the company.

Synonyms: Independent Auditor.

See related: Annual Report.

External Director: A director who is not
an employee of the company.
Synonyms: Non-Executive Director or
Outside Director.

Antonym: Internal Director.

External Manager: An individual or a
management company called in from the
outside to manage the company.

Extraordinary General Meeting of Share-
holders (EGM): Any General Meeting of
Shareholders (GMS) other than an AGM.

Extraordinary Transaction: A sale of as-
sets or a substantial portion of the com-
pany that requires shareholder or Super-
visory Board approval. The term is often
translated from the Russian as major
transaction, major deal, or large transac-
tion and large deal. The term extraordi-
nary transaction is used throughout the
Manual.

Fair Market Value: The price that a (an
informed) buyer would be willing to pay
and a (an informed) seller would be will-
ing to accept on the open market assum-
ing a reasonable time for a transaction to
take place.

Fiscal Year: In Russia, an accounting pe-
riod of one year starting on January 1.

Aynutop ob1ecTBa: ayIuTOp, OTBEYAIO-
LUK 33 IPOBeNeHHE ayIUTOPCKOM IIPO-
Bepku (UHAHCOBON OTYETHOCTH 061IIIe-
CTBa.

CuHoHuM: Hezabucumuotii ayoumop.

CMm. Takxke: 2000801t omuem.

Bueurnuit gupexrtop: uner cobema dupex-
mopob, He ABISIOUININCS PabOTHIKOM 06-
I1eCTBa.

CHHOHHUM: HeucnonHumenvHotil Oupex-
mop.

AnTOoHMM: 8Hympennuil Oupexmop.

Yupapisomas opraHusaius, yrpasJis-
oruit: pUsMIecKoe U0 WIN YIPaBIIsi-
IOIasA KOMIIAHWS, ITPUITIAIIIEHHbIC I yi-
paBieHUs1 0OIIECTBOM.

Bueouepennoe cobpaHue aKIMOHEPOB: JIIO-
60e, TOMUMO TOIOBOTO, 00I1Iee cobpaHue
aKIUOHEPOB.

Kpynnas cpeska: mpopaska akTHBOB WA
3HAYHUTEIBHON YacTH OOILIeCTBa, Tpebyro-
1asi ooO6peHus axyuoHepob wu cobema
oupexmopo8.

PoiHo4HAA CTOMMOCTB: IIeHa, KOTOPYIO
nHGOPMHUPOBAHHBII IIOKyIaTeIb TOTOB
3aIUIATUTD, a *HOPMHUPOBAHHBIIN IPOJA-
Bell TOTOB IIPUHATH Ha CBOOOIHOM PBIHKE,
IIPH YCJIOBUH, YTO CHEJIKa COBEPIIAeTCs B
pas3yMHBbIe CPOKH.

®uHaHCOBBII Toa: B Poccum — romoBoit
OTYETHBIN IIEpUO], HAYUHAIOIIUICS 1 sSH-
Bapsl.
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67.

68.

69.

70.

71.

Fixing Date: The date set by the company
on which an individual must own shares
in order to be eligible to vote at GMS or
receive a dividend.

Synonym: Record Date.

General Director: An individual execu-
tive body of the company responsible for
the day-to-day management of the com-
pany.

Synonym: Chief Executive Officer (CEO).

General Meeting of Shareholder (GMS):
The highest governing body of the com-
pany.

Synonym: General Assembly.

See related: Notice.

Generally Accepted Accounting Princi-
ples (GAAP): A widely accepted set of
rules, conventions, standards, and proce-
dures for reporting financial information,
as established by accounting standard set-
ters. Best known is US GAAP though
other countries may also refer to their
standards as GAAP. Russian Accounting
Standards (RAS) are used in the Russian
Federation though some companies also
prepare statements in accordance with US
GAAP or International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS), most often when
they seek foreign listings.

Golden Share: A special right of the state
to participate in the governance of the
company.

JlaTa 3aKpbITHA peecTpa: 1aTa, KOTOPYIO
yCTaHaBJIMBAET OOIIECTBO H IIO COCTOSIHHIO
Ha KOTOPYIO JIUI[O JOJDKHO BJIANETh aKI[U-
SIMH, 9TOOBI ITOJTyIUTH IIPABO IOJIOCOBATD
Ha ofIeM COOpaHMU WJIN IPaBO Ha II0-
sydeHue 0ubudendob.

l'enepaabHBIN TMPEKTOP: eNMHOIUIHBIN
UCIIOTHUTEJIbHBIN OpPraH OOIIecTBa, OTBe-
YAOIIINIA 32 TEKYIIlee PyKOBOJCTBO JIesATelb-
HOCTBIO 00IIIecTBa.

O61uiee co6paHue aKIHOHEPOB: BBICIIIMIL
OpraH yIIpaBJIeHUsI OOIIECTBOM.
Cm. Taxoke: yBedomuenue.

T'AAII (061enIpHHATHIE IPHHIUIIBI Oy X-
raJTepCcKOro y4era): IPHUHSATHI Habop
IIPAaBUJI, TIOJIOXKEHUH, CTAHAAPTOB U IIPO-
Lenyp IJIs IpefcTaBiaeHus (PUHAHCOBOU
nHGOPMAIUH, yCTAaHOBJICHHBIX OpPraHAMHI
perynupoBanus. Haubomnee mmpoxo us-
BectHbI TAAIT CIIA, X0Ts Ipyrue cTpaHbl
TaKke MOTYT Ha3bIBaTh CBOM CTaHAPTHI
T'AAIL B Poccuiickoit ®enepanuu npume-
HAIOTCA POCCUUCKME CTAaHIApThl ydeTa U
OTYETHOCTHU, XOTS HEKOTOpble KOMIIAHNUU
TaKoKe TIOJrOTaBJINBAIOT CBOIO OTYETHOCTD
B coorBeTcTBUH ¢ 'AAIT CIIIA mam mMex-
IyHapOIHBIMH CTaHTAPTaMU (PUHAHCOBOM
orgerrocta (MC®PO), Kak IpaBuIIo, B CIIy-
4ae, eCJIM OHHU XOTAT BKJIIOYUTH CBOU LIEH-
Hble OyMaru B JINCTHHT Ha HHOCTPaHHBIX
ormoBEIX GHpIKAX.

3o10Tass aKIUA: CIIeIaJbHOe IIPABO TO-
CyJapcTBa Ha y4acTue B yIIpaBJIeHUU 00-
IIIeCTBOM.
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72.

73.

74.

75.

76.

Governing Bodies: Structures that are in-
volved in the governance of the company.
They include the GMS, the Supervisory
Board, the General Director, and the Ex-
ecutive Board. For the purposes of this
Manual, governing bodies are divided into
two subsets: oversight bodies that exercise
an oversight function and executive bod-
ies that are responsible for the day-to-day
management of the company.

Holding Company: A company whose
assets include control shares of another
company or a group of companies.

Immovable property: Immovable prop-
erty includes land, land interior, detached
water objects, and everything else that is
tightly attached to the earth, detachment
of which without a material damage to
their purpose is impossible, including for-
ests, long-term plants, buildings, and con-
structions.

Independence: The freedom from control
or influence of others. The concept of
independence is used in different contexts
in this Manual: 1) with respect to Super-
visory Board members; 2) with respect to
the independent External Auditor; 3) with
respect to the Internal Auditor, and 4) In-
dependent Appraiser.

See: Annex 18 for the definition of an
independent director.

Independent Auditor:

See: External Auditor

See related: Annual Report, Auditor, and
Independence.

OpraHsbl yIpaBJIeHHA: OPraHbl 061ecTBa,
3aHMMAIOLIYECs eT0 yrpaBieHneM. K HuM
OTHOCSTCA 00ujee cobparue axiyuonepob,
coBem dupexmopob, zerepanvHotii Oupekmop
u npabnenue. [Ins meneir Hacrosmero ITo-
coOuUsT OpraHbl YIPABJICHUS IOAPA3MeIs-
I0TCSL Ha JIBe TPYIIIBL: HAO1100amenvivle
0p2anbl, OCyIIIeCTBISIOIINE (DYHKIIUA KOH-
TPOJISL, ¥ UCHONHUMENbHbIE 0P2aHbl, OTBe-
JalOIIIYe 3a TEKyIllee PYKOBOJCTBO esITeIIb-
HOCTBIO 001IIecTBa.

XoJTUHTOBasi KOMITAHMS: KOMITAaHUS, aK-
TUBBI KOTOPOM BKJIIOYAIOT KOHTPOJIbHBIE
IIAKEeThI AKIUH IPYTOi KOMIIAHUY WJIU IPYII-
TIbI KOMITAHUMN.

HenBumxmMoe HMYINECTBO: TAKOE HMY-
IIeCTBO BKJIIOYAET 3eMeJbHbIE YIaCTKH,
Y4IacTKH Help, 060c06IeHHbIe BOIHBIE 00h-
eKTBI 1 BCE, 9TO IIPOYHO CBS3AHO C 3eMIIel,
TO eCTh 0OBEKTDI, TepeMelleHIe KOTOPBIX
6e3 Hecopa3MepHOro yiuepba WX HasHa-
YEeHHUIO HEBO3MOJKHO, B TOM UHCIIE JIeca,
MHOTOJIETHHE HaCOKAEHUS, 3MaHUS, CO-
OpY KeHHUSI.

HesaBucumocTb: cBO60Ia OT KOHTPOJISI U
BIMAHUSA Apyrux aul. IloHATHE HesaBw-
cuMocTH B HactosIeM [Tocobuu ucromnnb-
3yeTcsl B Pa3JIMYHOM KOHTEKCTe: 1) 1mo oT-
HOILICHUIO K 4neHam cobema dupekmopob;
2) 1O OTHOIIEHHIO K He3abucumomy ayou-
mopy unu ayoumopy obujecmba; 3) 1o ot-
HOIIEHHIO K BHympenHemy ayoumopy; n
4) K He3aBUCUMOMY OLICHIIUKY.

CM. onpefeeHre He3aBUCHMOTO THPEK-
Topa B IIpunoxxenun 18.

HesaBucumslit aynurop:

CM. aydumop o6uecmba.

Cm. Taxke: 20006oii omuem, ayoumop u
Hezabucumocmo.
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77.

78.

79.

80.

81.

82.

83.

84.

Inside Director: A director who is an
employee of the company.

Synonym: Executive Director.
Antonyms: Outside Director, External
Director or Non-executive Director.

Insider: An individual with access to ma-
terial information before it is announced
to the public.

Insider Dealing: Trading by insiders based
on Insider Information.

Insider Information: Material informa-
tion about a company known to insiders
(generally, directors, management, and/or
employees) but not to the public.

Internal Audit: An appraisal of the finan-
cial health of a company’s operations by
its own employees. Employees who carry
out this function are called Internal Audi-
tors.

International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards (IFRS): Accounting standards pro-
mulgated by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB).

Issue: The group of securities of the com-
pany which confer upon their holders
identical rights.

Issue (verb). Legally specified steps nec-
essary to place securities.

BHyTpeHHMUIT IUPEKTOP: WIEH COBETa 1N~
PEKTOPOB, SIBISIIOIIMICS PaOOTHUKOM 00-
mectBa. CHHOHUM: UCHOTHUMeNbHDLIL OU-
pexmop.

AnToHMM: BHewnull Jupexmop WK Helc-
nosHumenvHolil OUpexmop.

Hncaiipep: n1uno, uMeroiee JOCTyI K Cy-
II1eCTBeHHOM HH(DOPMALINH 10 ee TyOImnd-
HOT'O PacKpBITHSL.

Hucaiiepckast TOProBIIA: COBEPILICHUE HH-
caiiilepaMu C/IeJIOK Ha OCHOBE uHcAildepc-
Koti ungopmaruu.

HHcaitgepckas mHOpManus: CyiecT-
BeHHast uHopMmanus o6 o6IIecTBe, U3-
BeCTHasl HHcaliepaMm (KaK IIPaBIIIO, ujle-
Ham cobema dupexkmopob, pyKOBOACTBY U
(wmu) paboTHUKaM 061IecTBa), HO HeE SIB-
JISIFOIIASICST OOIIEOCTY THOIL.

BuyTpennmii ayguT: orjeHKa (i)HHaHCOBOIZ
11eJ1ecO0OPa3HOCTH OIepanuit 06IIecTBa
ero pabotHuKaMu. PaGOTHUKH, BBITIOIHS-
IOIHEe 3Ty cbyHKumo, Ha3bIBAIOTC BHYT-
PEHHUMHU ayAUTOPAMU.

MexayHapogHbIe CTaHIAPTHI (PMHAHCO-
BoIl oryeTHOCcTH: CTaHIAPTHI y4eTa U OT-
9YeTHOCTH, IPUHAThIe MeXITyHapOomHbIM
COBETOM IO CTaHAAPTaM ydeTa M OTdIeT-
HOCTH

BeInmyck meHHBIX 6yMar: COBOKYIIHOCTb
LIeHHBIX OyMmar oO0IecTBa, MpefoCcTaB-
JAI0IIas UX JeprKaTeslsiM OJUHAKOBBIE
Ipasa.

DMuccus: IpefycCMOTpeHHbIE 3aKOHOM
HEICTBUS 110 pa3MeIleHUI0 [[eHHBIX Oy-
Mar.
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85.

86.

87.

88.

89.

90.

Issued and Outstanding: Shares of a com-
pany, which have been issued and are
outstanding. These shares represent cap-
ital invested by the firm’s shareholders.
Shares that have been issued and subse-
quently repurchased by the company are
called treasury share, because they are held
in the corporate treasury pending reissue
or retirement. Treasury shares are legally
issued but are not considered outstanding
for purposes of voting, dividends, or earn-
ings per share calculations.

Joint and Several Liability: An obligation
for which multiple individuals are equal-
ly liable.

Liquidation: To sell all of a company’s
assets, pay outstanding debts, and distrib-
ute the remainder to shareholders, and
then go out of business.

Listed: Traded on a stock exchange.

Listing Requirements: The conditions set
by a stock exchange to list the company’s
securities. Listing requirements may im-
pose certain conditions on the governance
of the company.

Loss: The expenses that a person, whose
right is infringed, bear or shall bear in
order to restore the infringed right, as well
as a loss or harm to his property (real
damages), as well as unrealized profit,
which the person could have received in
ordinary conditions of civil turnover if
his right would have not been infringed
(lost profit).

BoInmy11IeHHBI M HAXOMSALIMIICA B 06patiie-
HYM: BRIy IIIeHHBIE U HAXOJIAIIIeCs B 06pa-
ILIIeHUH aKIUU OOIIecTBa. OTH aKIIUH ITPel-
CTaBJISIIOT COOOM MHBECTUPOBAHHBII KAIlH-
TaJI aKI[IOHEPOB OOIIeCTBA. AKITHH, KOTOPbIe
ObLIM BBITYIIIEHBI U BIOCIEACTBUU BBIKYII-
JIEHBI OOIIIeCTBOM, Ha3bIBAIOTCS Ka3HAUe C-
KUMH aKIUSMU, IIOCKOJIbKY OHM HAXOISATCS
Ha 6ajTaHce 00111eCTBa JI0 X IIOBTOPHOTO BBI-
IycKa vim noramenns. Kasnageiickue ak-
U ABJIAIOTCS BBITYIIEHHBIMU, HO HE CIM-
TAIOTCSI HAXOJSAIIMMICS B OOpaI[eHNH B ITe-
JISIX TOJIOCOBAHM S, HAYMCJIEHUS IUBUIEHIOB
YT pacdeTa MpUOBLIN Ha OIHY aKITHIO.

Commapﬂaa OTBETCTBEHHOCTD: 00513aTelIhb-
CTBO, II0 KOTOPOMY HECKOJIBKO JIUI] HECYT
PaBHYIO OTBETCTBEHHOCTD.

JIMKBUIALVSL: [IPOJIaJKa BCEX aKTUBOB 00-
11€CTBA, BBIIIJIATA I0JITOB U paciipeesieHne
OCTABIIIETOCST UMYIECTBA MEKIY AKiuo-
Hepami ¢ TIOCJIENYIOIINM IIPeKpalieHueM
IesATeIbHOCTH OOIIecTBa.

BxIroYeHHBI B IUCTHHT (WM KOMupy-
towjuiics): obpararonuiicst Ha GoHIOBOI
6upike.

ITpaBuia jmcTiHra (BKIIOYEHNS B KOTUPO-
BaJIbHbIE JIUCTBI): YCJIOBHSI, YCTAHAB/IMBAE-
Mble (pOHIOBOI GUpsKell IIPIMEHUTEIBHO K
JIICTHHIY LIEHHBIX OyMar obrrectsa. Tpe6o-
BAHISI B OTHOILCHUN JINCTHHIA BKIIOYAIOT
olpefieleHHbIe TPeGOBAHUSI B OTHOIIEHUH
KOPIIOPaTUBHOTO YIIPABJIEHUS! B OOIIIeCTBe.

Y6bITKHI: pacxofibl, KOTOPBIE JIAII0, Ybe ITpa-
BO HAPYIIIEHO, TPOM3BEJIO WK JJOJDKHO 6y~
JIeT IPOM3BECTH JIJI51 BOCCTAHOBJICHUSI HAPY -
LIIEHHOTO IIPaBa, yIepl B pesysibraTe yTpa-
THI WIM HOBPEXJICHUS UMYILECTBA TaKOrO
s (peasbHbIi yIep6), a TakkKe Heromy-
JeHHBIE JIOXOJIbI, KOTOPBIE TaKOe JIUIIO IO~
JIYYIIIO OB TIPH OOBIYHBIX YCIIOBHSX TPaK-
IaHCKOro 06opoTa, ecy GBI €ro IpaBo He
6b110 HapyIIIeHO (YIyIleHHast BBITONA).
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91.

92.

93.

94.

95.

96.

Majority Shareholder: A shareholder who
alone or with a group of affiliated parties
exercises significant control over the com-
pany.

See related: Controlling Shareholder.

Management: The group of individuals
who run the day-to-day operations of the
company.

Mandatory Bid: The offer to buy all the
outstanding common shares and securities
convertible into common shares made by
the acquirer to all other shareholders in
control transactions.

Synonyms: Buyout, Mandatory Offer.

Material Events Report: A document that
is used to report the occurrence of any
material events that have not previously
been reported by the issuer. Sometimes
referred to in the Russian context as ma-
terial facts report.

Material Information: Information whose
omission or misstatement could affect the
economic decisions taken by users of in-
formation. Materiality is a characteristic
of an event or information that is suffi-
ciently important to have an impact on a
company’s stock price.

Merger: The termination of one or sev-
eral companies while their assets and li-
abilities are transferred to another com-
pany. Mergers differ from Consolidations
in that no new entity is created from a
Merger. Some translations of the Com-
pany Law refer to merger as an «acces-
sion».

KpymnHblii (Ma>KOPUTapHBII) aKIHOHEP:
axyuonep, KOTOPBIIT caM 16O COBMECTHO
¢ abbUINpPOBAHHBIMY JINIIAMH OCYIIIECT-
BJISIET 3HAYUTENIbHBIN KOHTPOJIb Haj 00-
IIIECTBOM.

CM. TaxoKe: KOHMPOAUPYIOUIULL AKYUOHED.

MeHemKMEeHT: TPYIITa JINII, OCYIIeCTBIIS-
IOIIIasl TEKYIIee PyKOBOJICTBO OOIIIECTBOM.

ITpenoxenue 06 00513aTeIBHOM BBIKYTIE:
[Ipe/iJIO’KeHNE BBIKYIIUTh BCE HAXOMISIIIN-
ecst B obparieHnn 0ObIKHOBEHHbBIE aKI[UU
o01IecTBa U IeHHbIe GyMaru, KOHBEPTH-
pyeMble B OOBIKHOBEHHBIE aKIINU, KOTOPOEe
mpuobperaresb B paMKax CHEIKH IO IIPH-
00peTeHNI0 KOHTPOJIS 00513aH CIIeNIaTh BCeM
OCTAJIbHBIM AKI[HOHEPAM.

CuHOHMM: 00s513aTe/IbHOE TIPeI0KEeHHeE.

CooOl11eHne 0 CyllecTBeHHBbIX (hakTax:
IOKYMEHT, PaCKpbIBAIOIIIIT HH(POPMALIUIO
0 CYIIeCTBEHHBIX COOBITHSIX, KOTOpast pa-
Hee He PaCKPhIBAIACH IMHUTECHTOM.

CyuiecrBeHHas uHgopmayst: nabopma-
[Ust, YIyIIeHHe WIA UCKa)KeHHe KOTOPOil
MOYKET HOBJIMATH Ha IPUHSITHE 9KOHOMHU-
JeCKHX PelIeHNi ee moab3oBaTesiMu. Cy-
IIIeCTBEHHOCTb — 9TO XapPaKTEPHCTHKA CO-
6bITus Wit MHGOPMAIMH, O3HAYAIOIIAS,
9TO TaKue coObITHE WK WH(POPMAIHS 10-
CTATOYHO Ba)KHBI, YTOOBI MOBJIUATH Ha
IL[eHy aKIUil 0OIIecTsa.

ITpucoemunenue: IpexpalieHue NesaTelb-
HOCTU OJHOTO WJIM HeCKOJBbKHUX OOILIeCTB
IIpU OJHOBPEMEHHOH Iepefade UX aKTH-
BOB U 0053aTEJIbCTB IPYrOMy OOILECTBY.
IIpucoenuHeHne oTINYaeTCs OT CAUSHUS
TeM, 4TO B 9TOM ClIydae He oOpasyercs
HOBOTO O0IIecTBa.

IFC_part_6.indd 329

329

17.09.2004 11:24:46 ‘



®

The Russia Corporate Governance Manual

No

English

Pyccxmit

97.

98.

99.

100.

101.

102.

103.

104.

Minority Shareholder: A shareholder with
less than 50% ownership of a company’s
voting shares, or insufficient ownership
to control company operations.

See related: Majority Shareholder.

Natural Person: A single person as dis-
tinguished from legal entities and indi-
vidual entrepreneurs.

Synonyms: Individual, Private Person,
or Physical Person.

Nominal Shareholder: A person or orga-
nization named to act on behalf of some-
one else.

Synonym: Nominee Shareholder.

Nominal Value: Value of a bond or a
share as given on “the face” of the cer-
tificate or instrument.

Nominee: The person, bank, or brokerage
in whose name securities are transferred.

Non-Executive Director: A member of a
company’s Supervisory Board who is not a
manager (an employee) of the company.
Synonyms: Outside Director or External
Director.

Non-Standard Operations: Operations
that go beyond the scope of the financial
and economic plan of the company as
defined by the FCSM’s Code.

Notice: Official proclamation of a legal
action or intent to take a legal action. No-
tice in this Manual is used in the context
of giving notice of or calling a GMS.

MuHOpHUTAapHBII aKIIUOHEP: AKIHOHED,
BIIaZIEIOIuT MeHee YeM 50% TroyIoCyomunx
aknuit obmiecTBa au60O YHUCIOM aKI[MIA,
HeOOCTAaTOYHbIM [JIs1 OCYU.[CCTBJ'[eHI/IH KOH-
TPOJISL 32 JIeATENbHOCTHIO O6IIeCTBa.

CM. TaKoKe: MAXKOPUmMapHolil aKyuoep.

DusznIecKoe JIUIO0: JIUII0, He SBIISIOIIeecs
IOPUANIECKUM JIUI[OM UTH NHAUBHUIY b~
HBIM IIpeJIIpUHIMAaTeIeM.

HomunanpHbIil Baagenen: Gusnieckoe
WJIA IOPUIUIECKOE JIULIO, NEUCTBYIOIIEE OT
VMEHH JPyTOTO JINIIA.

HomuHaxbHasA CTOUMOCTB: CTOMMOCTB 00~
JINTAI[ANU YUIH aKI[UH, YKa3aHHAs Ha JIUIe-
BOIT cTOpoHe cepruduKaTta UIX UHCTPY-
MEHTa.

HoMmuHaIbHBIN JepiKaTesb: JTUI0, GaHK
uiau 6pOKep, OT YbEero MMEHU OCYIIeCT-
BJISIETCSI Tlepenada IEeHHbIX OyMar.

HencrotHATE IBHBIA JUPEKTOP: WICH (O~
Bema oupexmopoB ob1iecTBa, He SBIISIO-
Iuiicst MeHemKepoM (paboTHUKOM) 00-
IIecTBa.

CuHoHuM: BHewnuii oupexmop.

HecranpaprHas onepauys: oreparusi, Bbi-
XOJAIIast 32 paMKH (DHHAHCOBO-XO3SIIACT-
BEHHOTO IIaHa o6111ecTBa (B COOTBETCTBUH
C omperiesieHreM, IpuBeeHHbIM B Konek-
ce OKIIB).

YBenomienne: ouImanbHOe U3BEIeHUE
O COBEpIIEHUU IOPUAMIECKOTO JIeHCTBUS
WM HaMEePEeHUH COBEPIIUTH TaKOe JIeHc-
TBUe. B KoHTekcTe Hacrosiero [Tocobus
HCIIOJIBb3YeTCs B 3HAYCHUU «YBeIOMJICHUE O
CO3bIBe OOIIIEr0 COOpaHUsT aKIIMOHEPOB».
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105.

106.

107.

108.

109.

110.

111.

112.

Oversight Bodies: The bodies of the com-
pany tasked with oversight functions in-
cluding the Supervisory Board and the
GMS.

Participating Shareholder: A shareholder
who participates in the GMS in person,
through a representative, or by sending
completed voting ballots.

Place: To market new securities.

Placement: The acquisition of the owner-
ship of securities by the first owners through
transactions.

Pre-Emptive Right: The right of current
shareholders to maintain their proportion
of ownership in a company by buying
shares in any future issue of shares and
convertible securities.

Synonym: Right of First Refusal.

Preferred shares: Non-voting shares, which
provide a defined dividend and liquidation
value, paid before any dividends paid to
the owners of common shares.

Prospectus: A formal offer to sell securi-
ties. The Prospectus sets forth the business
plan of the company and sufficient facts
for the investor to make an informed
decision regarding the purchase of such
securities.

Proxy Card: The instrument by which
Shareholders cast their votes, or assign
their proxy.

Ha6aromaTeapHble OPTaHbL: OPraHbL yII-
paByieHus OOIIECTBa, B 3a/la4U KOTOPBIX
BXOJIUT OCYLIeCTBIEHNE KOHTPOJISL. BKitio-
qaT HabawdamenvHulil cobem u obuiee
cobpanue axyuorepob.

Y4acTBYIOLIMIT AKIIMOHEP: aKIIHOHEP, IIPH-
HUMAOUINN ydacTHe B 0611eM cobpaHun
AKIIMOHEPOB JINYHO, Yepe3 IPeICTaBUTe s
WIN TIOCPENCTBOM HAIpaBJeHHs 3aroi-
HEHHOTO OIOJUIETEHsI MIJIsI TOJIOCOBAHIISL

PasmecTuth: IIpoaaThb HOBbIE IIEHHBIE 6}7’
Maru.

Pa3merenne: npuobOpeTenue mpasa codc-
TBEHHOCTH Ha IIeHHbIe OyMaru ux mepBbI-
MU BJIafIeJIbI[AMU [TOCPEICTBOM COBepIIie-
HUS CJIETIOK.

IIpeumyLiecTBeHHOE IIPaBoO IpHOGpeTe-
HUSL: TIPABO CYIIECTBYIOMINX aKyuoHepob
Ha COXPaHeHNUe CBOeN OJII COOCTBEHHOCTH
B 06111eCTBe, 06eCIIeINBAEMOE IOCPELCTBOM
NpHOGpeTeHrs aKIUi U KOHBEPTUPYEMBIX
eHHBIX OyMar IOCIIeYIOIINX BbIIYCKOB.

IIpuBuIernpoBaHHAasI AKIMA: HETOJIOCYIO-
1I[ast aKIUsL, KOTOPast [IPEIOCTABIISIET UX Jie-
PYKaTe’Tio IIPABO Ha ITOJTyIeHYe OIIPeIeIeHHO-
10 0ubBuder0a U MUKBUIALMOHHON CTOUMOC-
TH, BBIIIJIAYMBAEMBIX O BBITLIATHI JUBH-
JIEH/IOB BJIAJIe/IbIiaM OOBIKHOBEHHBIX aKITHIA.

ITpocnexT neHHbIX 6yMmar: ouirasbHOE
IIpeUIOKeHUe O TIPOfiaKe IeHHBIX OyMar.
B mpocriekTe comepKUTCs GU3HEC-IIIaH
obmrectBa u nHMOPMAIIHS, HeOOXOAUMAasT
[JIA NIPpUHATUSA UHBECTOPOM O6OCHOB3.H‘
HOTO pellleHus] O TIOKYIIKe MpeiaraeMbIxX
LIEHHBIX OyMar.

JlOBepeHHOCTh: TOKYMEHT, ITOCPeCTBOM
KOTOPOTO aAKyu0Hep Ha3HAYaeT IOBEpPeH-
HoOe JIUI0 (M OCYIIEeCTBISIET Yepe3 Hero
CBOE IIPaBO Ha ydJacTHe B TOJOCOBAHUN).
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113.

114.

115.

116.

117.

118.

119.

120.

Proxy: An authorization by a sharehold-
er giving another person the right to vote
the shareholder’s shares. Proxy also refers
to the document granting this authority,
as in proxy card.

Quarterly Report: Unaudited document
reporting the financial results for the quar-
ter.

Quorum: The minimum percentage of
votes of shareholders or directors that
must be present at a meeting in order for
a vote to be legally effective.

Redemption Rights: Right of shareholders
to require the company to repurchase their
shares under certain circumstances.

Redemption: The return of an investor’s
principal in a security at or before matu-
rity.

Registered Security: A security whose
owner’s name is recorded on the face of
the security certificate or books of the
issuer (for non-documentary securities).

Registrar: The organization, that main-
tains a shareholder register that includes
information on the shareholders and the
number of shares held. The term External
Registrar is used in this manual

Related Party Transaction: A transaction
in which a related party is involved and
which must be approved by the GMS or
the Supervisory Board in accordance with
requirements of the law.

ITpencraBUTeILCTBO: Tepenada axyuoHe-
pOM Opyromy JIHIly IpaBa TOJOCOBATH IO
ero aknusM. Taxoke yroTpe6IIsieTcs B 3Ha-
YeHUU JOKYMEHTA, YIOCTOBEPSIOIIEro Ta-
Koe IIpaBo.

ExxexBapTaabHbIi OTYET SMUTEHTA IMUC-
CHOHHBIX IIeHHBIX OyMar: He IIPOBEPeH-
HBIA ayAUTOPOM HOKYMEHT, COEeP KAl
(uHaHCOBBIE Pe3yIBTATHI AESITEIBHOCTU
OMUTEHTA 3a KBapTall.

KBopym: MUHHMaJIbHOE YHCIIO T'OJOCOB
akyuonepob win oupexmopol, TpUCyTC-
TBHE KOTOPBLIX HeOOXOANMO Ha cOOpaHuu
¢ TeM, 4TOOBI pe3yIbTaThbl OJOCOBAHMUS
6BUIN IEICTBUTEIBHBI II0 3aKOHY.

IIpaBo BBIKyIIa: IPaBO AKIOHEPOB IIOT-
pe6oBath OT 00IIIeCTBA BBIKYIIA MX aKIIMI
[IPH OIpefieSIeHHBIX 00CTOATEIHCTBAX.

IMoramrenue (06Mranum): BO3BPaT OCHOB-
HOI CYMMBI JI0JITA HHBECTOPY HE IO3/IHee
CpOKa IOTaIIeHusI.

HNmennas nenHas 6ymara: rjeHHast Gyma-
ra, UM IeprKaTesisi KOTOPOi yKa3bIBaeTCsI
Ha JINLIEBOI CTOpOHe ceprudurara (B ciy-
4ae JJOKYMEHTAPHBIX IIeHHBIX OyMar) WIn
B YYETHBIX JOKYMEHTaX SMHUTEHTa (B CIy-
qae 6e3TOKyMEHTAapHBIX LIEHHBIX OyMar).

Perucrparop: opranusanusi, KOTopasi Be-
et peecmp axiyuonepob. B peectpe conep-
skutcst nHbopMaius 06 akImHoHepax H
qHCITe TPUHAIEKAIINX UM aKI[HIL.

Cresika ¢ 3aMHTEPECOBAHHOCTBIO: CIENIKA,
B COBEpIIIEHNH KOTOPOI MMeEeTCst 3aMHTe-
PECOBAHHOCTh M KOTOpasi HOJDKHA OBITDH
yTBepyKIeHa 00usum cobpanuem axiyuoHepold
i coBermom Oupexmopod B COOTBETCTBUU
¢ TpeGOBaHISIMI 3aKOHA.
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121.

122.

123.

124.

125.

126.

127.

Reorganization: In Russia, the reorganiza-
tion is the changing of a legal structure,
such a consolidation, merger, divestiture,
split-up, and transformation.

Reserve Fund: A part of owners’ equity
set aside in a separate fund to supplement
the charter capital. It can be used to
cover the company’s losses, or to redeem
bonds and shares if other funds are not
available.

Restructuring: The reorganization of a
company’s operations without changing
the legal form.

Revision Commission: A special body of
the company elected by shareholders to
oversee the financial and business activi-
ties of the company and the compliance
with relevant laws and regulations. It
fulfills a different function than the Au-
dit Committee, or the Internal Auditor.

Share Buyback: The repurchase of a com-
pany’s own shares.

Shareholder of Record: The name of an
individual or entity that an issuer carries
in its records as the registered holder (not
necessarily the beneficial owner) of the
issuer’s securities.

Synonyms: Stockholder of Record, Hold-
er of Record, or Owner of Record.

Shareholder Proposal: A proposal for an
agenda of the GMS submitted by a share-
holder (or a group of shareholders) that
own at least 2% of voting shares.

PeopraHnsaumI: peopranusanusa — I3TO
IIpeKpamnieHue Ujinu n3MEHEHNE IIPpaBOBOTO
TIOJIOKEHUA IOPUIUIECKOTO JIHUIA, BIIEKY-
1Iree OTHOLICHUS IIPaBOIIpEeEMCTBA IOpU-
OUYIECKOro JInia.

PesepBHbIil POHA: TaCTh COOCTBEHHOTO
KamuTanta o6IIecTBa, BbIIEICHHAS B OT/Ie-
JIBHBI (POHA. MOXKET HCIIOTb30BATHCS IS
IOKPBITUSI YOBITKOB OOIIeCTBA, BBIKYIIA
AKIIMI U 0OJIUTaluii IIPU OTCY TCTBUU HHBIX
CpefiCTB.

PecTpyKTypusanus: peopraHu3anus ae-
SITEIPHOCTH 06IIecTBa 6€3 M3MEeHEHUs
€ro OpraHM3allMOHHO-IIPaBOBOI Gop-
MBI.

PeBu3HOHHAsA KOMUCCHUS: CIIEI[AATbHBII
opran o61ecTBa, U306MpaeMbIil Ak uUo0-
Hepamu [IJIS1 OCYIIECTBJICHHUSI KOHTPOJIS
3a GUHAHCOBO-XO3SNCTBEHHON IesTeNb-
HOCTBIO OOIIeCTBA U BBIIOJIHEHNEM Tpe-
6oBaHUIl 3akoHO#aTeabCTBA. Ero yHk-
U7 OTIUYAIOTCS OT DYHKIUI KoMume-
ma no ayoumy u ciayxObl BHympeHnHezo
ayouma.

IIpuo6perenue akiuii 06IIIeCTBOM: BbI-
KyII 06I11eCTBOM COOCTBEHHBIX aKITHIL.

Axunonep: ¢pusnyeckoe WM OPUAAIEC-
KOE€ JINIIO , YKa3aHHOE B YIETHBIX 3AMUCSX
OMUTEHTA B Ka4eCTBE 3aPErUCTPUPOBAH-
HOTO Heprkaress (He 00s13aTeIbHO peatb-
HOTO COOCTBEHHHUKA) LIEHHBIX OyMar aMu-
TeHTa.

IIpensroskeHne aKIHOHePa: IPeJIOKEHIe
IJIS1 BKJTFOUEHUST B ITOBECTKY 001I1ero co6-
paHUs aKIFOHEPOB, IIPeCTaBIeHHOE aK-
LIMOHEPOM (MJIM TPYIION aKIIMOHEpPOB),
BJIAJEIOIINM (BJIAIEIOIIMME) HE MEHEe 4eM
2% roJoCyomux aKIum.
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128.

129.

130.

131.

132.

133.

134.

135.

Shareholder Register: The register of
shareholders used to record ownership of
shares and determine shareholders of re-
cord on the record date. A shareholder
register is generally maintained by an
independent body to avoid conflicts of
interest.

Shareholder List: A list setting out the
names and addresses of the shareholders of
record used to determine who may partici-
pate at a GMS and receive dividend pay-
ments. Shareholder lists must be compiled
on a fixing date or a date of record.

See related: Shareholder of Record.

Simple Majority: More than 50% of votes.
See related: Supermajority.

Spin-Off: An independent company cre-
ated from an existing part of another
company through a divestiture.

Split of Shares: The process of converting
one share of a specific type and class
into two or more shares of the same type
and class.

Antonym: Consolidation of Shares.

Split-Up: The splitting or division of a
company into new entities followed by
the cessation of activity of the original
company.

Stakeholder: Any party that has an inter-
est or stake in a company.

Standard Voting: Method of shareholder
voting in which shareholders cast all their
votes either for or against an issue put for
vote or refrain from voting.

Synonym: Regular Voting.

See related: Cumulative Voting.

Peectp akinoHepoB: peecTp, KOTOPbIIT UC-
IIOJTB3YeTCsT IS yIeTa paB COOCTBEHHOC-
TH Ha aKIIUU U OIPeIe/IeHUs] CIIUCKA aKy -
oHepob wa damy 3axpoimus peecmpa. Peectp
AKIOHEPOB, KaK MPABUIIO, BEIET He3aBU-
CHUMasi OPraHHU3aI[Us, TaK KaK 3TO I03BOJIS-
eT u36exaTh KOHQIINKTa HHTEPECOB.

CHHUCOK aKIMOHEPOB: CIIUCOK, COMePIKa-
mui nMeHa (HaMMEHOBAHWs) U ajpeca
AKIIMOHEPOB, UMEIOLINX IIPaBO Ha y4yacTue
B 00ujem cobparuu akyuoHepob u momyde-
Hue 0ubuderndob. Cimcox moKeH OBITh
COCTaBJIEH Ha 0amy 3axkpuimus peecmpa.

IIpocroe 6OIBUIMHCTBO rOI0COB: Ooliee
50% romocos.

Cwm. Taxke: kanupuyupobannoe 601v-
wuncmbo 2o0n0cob.

Boinenenne: cosnanue HE3aBUCUMOTO 06-
I1eCTBa M3 YacTH APYroro obuiecrsa B
nporiecce BvldeneHuss aKTUBOB.

Ipob6aenue: nmporecc KOHBepTauu 1 aK-
[IUY OTIPeJIeJIEHHOM KaTeropuu (Tumna) B 2
i 6oiee aKIUi TOM JKe KaTeropuu (TH-
ma).

AHTOHUM: KOHCOAUOAUUA AKYUil.

Pa3perenue: pasnenenue 0611ecTBa IIyTeM
€ro MpeKpaIeHus ¥ CO3/IaHusI HOBBIX 00-
I1eCTB.

3anmHTEpeCcOBaHHOE JIMIIO: JIUII0, UMEIO-
11ee Ty WIM UHYIO 3aMHTEPECOBAHHOCTH B
o0111ecTBe.

CraHgapTHOE T0JI0COBAHHE: METOI TOJIO-
COBaHMS aKIIMOHEPOB, IIPH KOTOPOM aK-
IUOHEPHI OTHAIOT CBOM TOJIOCA «3a» HIIH
«IIPOTUB» TOT'O WU UHOI'O PEIICHUS UIIN
BO3JEP)KUBAIOTCSI OT TOJIOCOBAHUS 10 OII-
pefieIeHHOMY BOIIPOCY ITOBECTKH IHS 06-
I1ero COOpaHuUs aKIILOHEPOB.

CM. Taxke: kymynsmubnoe zonocobanue.

334

‘ IFC_part_6.indd 334

17.09.2004 11:24:47




Annex 30. Glossary of English and Russian Corporate Governance Terminology

®

No

English

Pycckmit

136.

137.

138.

139.

140.

141.

142.

Subscription: An agreement to buy new-
ly issued securities.

Subsidiary: A company that is owned
outright or controlled by a parent com-

pany.

Supermajority: Any vote requiring more
than simple majority of votes. Com-
monly two-thirds or three-fourths.

Supervisory Board: Part of a two-tier
board structure. The Supervisory Board
provides strategic guidance and exercises
oversight over the Executive Board. The
Supervisory Board corresponds to the
Board of Directors in a unitary board
system.

See related: Executive Board and Board
of Directors.

Transfer Balance Sheet: An act drawn in
case of consolidation, merger and trans-
formation by which assets and liabilities
of reorganizing company(ies) are trans-
ferred to newly created company(ies).

Transformation (in reorganization):
Changing a legal form of a joint stock
company into a limited liability company,
production cooperative, or non-commer-
cial partnership.

Takeover: Acquisition of control of a com-
pany, called a target, by purchase or ex-
change of shares. A takeover may be
either hostile or friendly.

ITopmucka: cornanieHne o NOKyIke BHOBb
BBIITYIIEHHBIX EHHBIX 6yMar.

[ouepHee 06111eCTBO: OOIIIECTBO, HAXOMISI-
1eecst B COGCTBEHHOCTH FUIH TI0]] KOHTPO-
JIeM MaTepUHCKOro (OCHOBHOTO) 00IIe-
cTBa.

KsanudunupoBanHoe 60IbIIMHCTBO I0-
JIOCOB: YHCJIO TOJIOCOB, HEOOXOIMMOE IS
TIPUHATHS KAKOTO-THO0 PeIeHus, [UIs KO-
TOPOTO MPOCTOTO GOJBIINHCTBA TOJIOCOB
HenocraToyHo. O6s19H0 2/3 win 3/4 ro-
JIOCOB.

Ha6monare bHBIIT COBET: 9acTh IBYXYPOB-
HEBOM CTPYKTYPBI, IIPH KOTOPO# Ha0II0-
IaTeIbHBIN COBET 00eCIIednBaeT CTPATET -
gecKoe PYKOBOICTBO OOIIECTBOM H OCY-
IIECTBJIAET KOHTPOJD 32 JeATeIbHOCTHIO
€T0 WMCIOJTHUTEIBHBIX OpTraHoB. B opgHO-
YPOBHEBOII CTPYKTYpe HaOIIOaTeTbHOMY
COBETY COOTBETCTBYET COBET THPEKTOPOB.
Cm. Takke: npabnenue u cobem oupex-
mopob

IlepemaTounsrii 6aIaHC: JOKYMEHT, KOTO-
PBII COCTABJISAETCA B CIydae CAUSHUSA, IIPU-
COCIMHEHMW I, BBIICJTICHU A, paSIIeJIeHI/IH NI
Ipeo6pa3oBaHusl U II0 KOTOPOMY aKTHUBBI
1 00513aTeJIbCTBA PEOPTaHU3yeMOTO 00IIe-
cTBa (06111eCTB) IIepenaloTCsi BHOBD CO3/a-
BaeMOMYy 00111ecTBy (061IecTBaM).

ITpeo6pasoBaHue: N3MEHEHNE OPraHU3a-
IIHOHHO-IIPABOBON (OPMBI aKI[HOHEP-
HOTrO OOIIeCTBa, B pe3yabTaTe OHO CTa-
HOBHTCS OOIIECTBOM C OTPAaHHYEHHON
OTBETCTBEHHOCTBIO, IIPOU3BOJCTBEHHBIM
KOOIepPaTUBOM HJIM HEKOMMEPYECKUM Iap-
THEPCTBOM.

ITornonrenue: npruoOpeTeHne KOHTPOJISI
HaJ 06IIeCTBOM ITOCPEICTBOM MOKYIIKU
nnu obMeHa akiuit. ITornomenue Mo-
JKeT OBITh BPaXKIeOHBIM WU OPYKeCT-
BEHHBIM.
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No

English

Pyccxmit

143.

144.

145.

Treasury Shares: Shares reacquired by the
issuing company and available for retire-
ment or resale. Treasury shares cannot
be voted and receive dividends. It is not
included in any of the ratios measuring
values per common share.

Voting Shares: Common shares, and pre-
ferred shares when providing such rights
on all agenda items (if dividends were not
fully paid) or certain items (e.g. reorga-
nization).

Written Consent: A way of participating
in the GMS or a meeting of the governing
body by sending a written document to
the company with voting results.

KasHaueiicKye aKIMI: aKITMH, BHIKYIUICH-
HbIe OMHUTEHTOM U IpeIHa3HaYeHHbIe IS
oTaIleHust WK epernpopaxu. KagHageit-
CKHE€ aKIIuu HE FOHOCYIOT, U 110 HUM He
HAYMCIAIOTCS nuBnAneHapl. OHU TakkKe He
BKJIIOYAIOTCS. B pacyer MoOKasaTeseil Ha
OIIHY OOBIKHOBEHHYIO aKI[HIO.

T'onocyroue akium: OObIKHOBEHHBIE aK-
LIUY, @ TAKKe IPUBWIETHPOBAHHbBIE AKIIUN
B CJIydae IPeJOCTaBJIECHUS UM IIpaBa Ha
ydacTue B 'OJIOCOBAHUH II0 BCEM BOIIPO-
caM IIOBeCTKH AHS (B ClIydae HEIIOJIHOU
BBIIJIATHI JUBHIEHIOB) MM IIO ee OT/ie-
JIBHBIM IYHKTaM (HaIpuMmep, o BOIPOCY
O PeOpraHM3aIun).

3ao4HO€ roI0COBaHHE: BO3ZMOXKHOCTD
ydacTus B o0I1eM cOOpaHUH aKIIHOHEPOB
WM 3acelaHuM KOJUIETMAaJbHOTO OpTraHa
YIPaBIeHUs IOCPeICTBOM HaIlpaBJIeHUs
MHACbMEHHOTO NOKYMEHTa C Pe3yJbTaTaMu
TOJIOCOBaHMS.
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